## ♦ SUSSEX EUROPEAN INSTITUTE ◆

STUDY ON THE ECONOMIC AND INDUSTRIAL ASPECTS OF ANTI-DUMPING POLICY

Peter Holmes with Jeremy Kempton Sussex European Institute

SEI WORKING PAPER NO. 22

The **Sussex European Institute** publishes Working Papers (ISSN 1350-4649) to make research results, accounts of work-in-progress and background information available to those concerned with contemporary European issues. The Institute does not express opinions of its own; the views expressed in this publication are the responsibility of the author.

The **Sussex European Institute**, founded in Autumn 1992, is a research and graduate teaching centre of the University of Sussex, specialising in studies of contemporary Europe, particularly in the social sciences and contemporary history. The **SEI** has a developing research programme which defines Europe broadly and seeks to draw on the contributions of a range of disciplines to the understanding of contemporary Europe. These include the Centre for German-Jewish Studies. The **SEI** draws on the expertise of many faculty members from the University, as well as on those of its own staff and visiting fellows. In addition, the **SEI** provides a one year MA course in Contemporary Europe and opportunities for MPhil and DPhil research degrees.

tel: (+44) 1273 678 578 fax: (+44) 1273 678 571 email: sei@sussex.ac.uk

First published in 1997 by the **Sussex European Institute** University of Sussex Falmer, Brighton BN1 9QN

This study was commissioned by the Directorate for Industrial Policy of Directorate-General III (Industry) of the European Commission. It does not, however, express the Commission's official views. The findings and recommendations expressed are those of the author consultants.

#### © European Communities, 1997

The price of this Working Paper is  $\pm 10.00$ 

Orders should be sent to the **Sussex European Institute**, University of Sussex, Arts A Building, Falmer, Brighton BN1 9QN. Cheques should be made payable to the

University of Sussex. Please add  $\pounds 1.00$  postage per copy in Europe and  $\pounds 2.00$  per copy elsewhere.

## STUDY ON THE ECONOMIC AND INDUSTRIAL ASPECTS OF ANTI-DUMPING POLICY

#### **Peter Holmes with Jeremy Kempton**

#### Abstract

This paper addresses the question of the economic and industrial consequences of dumping and anti-dumping measures when the assumption of perfect markets is not satisfied and when the policy instruments available are subject to legal constraint. The Basic Regulation provides that for anti-dumping measures to be taken, a case must pass tests for dumping injury and causation, and in addition a community interest test. We argue that the traditional conclusion of economists that anti-dumping should be confined to cases where there is a risk of monopolistic predation is excessively narrow. There may be other circumstances when anti-dumping action may be a second best option, although in oligopolistic markets economic theory cannot lay down clear *a priori* rules. Since the tools for assessing dumping, injury and causation do not give any guidance as to Community Interest we suggest that an enumeration of all the foreseeable consequences of imposing or not should be part of the decision making process even if formal Cost-Benefit-Analysis is inappropriate.

#### Acknowledgements

The main authors are grateful to the following for their indispensable contributions to this report and the broader project of which it formed part: Dr Rene Belderbos (Science Policy Research Unit, University of Sussex), Ms Ulrike Hotopp, Mr Yusaf Akbar, Mr Tim Heighes, and Ms Marie-Jo Cortijo (all University of Sussex).

We are also extremely grateful to European Commission officials too numerous to mention who gave us the benefit of their experience; we should in particular single out Mr John Dunmall and Dr Hannes Welge, members of the project steering committee, who are of course in no way responsible for any errors in this work. We are also grateful to the industrial and legal experts who helped us.

**Peter Holmes** is Jean Monnet Reader in the Economics of European Integration, University of Sussex.

Jeremy Kempton is a Research Fellow, Sussex European Institute, University of Sussex

## **Table of Contents**

Int	roduction	1		1
1.	Economic theories of dumping and their relationship to legal concepts			2
	1.1. Types of dumping		2 3	
		1.1.1.	Predatory dumping and monopolisation	3
		1.1.2.	Strategic Behaviour	4
		1.1.3.	Market opening dumping	5
		1.1.4.	Cyclical Dumping	6
		1.1.5.	State Trading Dumping	7
	1.2.	Economic Approaches		7
		1.2.1.	Why oppose dumping?	7
		1.2.2.	Approaches in International and Industrial Economics	9
		1.2.3.	The lessons of the theories	16
2.	Economic analysis and the current regulation			19
	2.1.	Where c	ould Economic Analysis be used?	19
	2.2.	The link	between Dumping, Injury and Causation tests and Community	
	Interest			20
3.	Developing further the idea of the Community Interest test			21
	3.1.	Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA)		21
		3.1.1.	Problems of formal CBA	22
		3.1.2.	Possible application of CBA ?	23
		3.1.3.	Alternatives to formal CBA	23
	3.2.		ould go into the Community Interest analysis?	24
			Costs to users	25
		3.2.2.	Price effects	25
		3.2.3.	Consumer surplus	29
		3.2.4.	Employment effects and the value of jobs	30
		3.2.5.	Effects on the rest of the economy	34
		3.2.6.	Market Structures	35
		3.2.7.	The effects on our exports	37
		3.2.8.	The Injury analysis and the Community Interest	37
			Industrial issues	38
		3.2.10	. Direct Foreign Investment (DFI)	39
	3.3.	Alternat	ive policies	41
	3.4. Making a balance		41	
	4. Policy Recommendations			43 45
Re	References			

#### INTRODUCTION

In this paper we begin with a discussion of what recent developments in economic analysis have to say about the effects of dumping and anti-dumping in general.

• The first part of the report reviews the different streams of economic analysis that can be applied to the study of dumping and anti-dumping. It will show that whereas the traditional approach to anti-dumping by international trade economists in the tradition of Jacob Viner has been in general very sceptical towards the use of anti-dumping measures, newer approaches that have been developed by industrial economists for the study of strategic behaviour in imperfect markets may lead to a qualification of the traditional conclusion. Modern industrial economics tells us that there may be reasons other than predation-for-monopolisation which could justify use of anti-dumping measures, especially when other policy tools are unavailable. The stress must be on "may" however; modern industrial economics has only recently been applied to the analysis of dumping and the main lessons of the new approaches are that on the one hand the right policy in each case depends on quite detailed knowledge of the circumstances of the industry and on the other hand that expectations effects about the working of the rules of the game can be of strategic importance for investment decisions. In addition to contrasting the various economic approaches with each other we will attempt to compare the framework adopted by economists in general which stresses economic efficiency at the expense of other possible goals with the approach of many lawyers and policy makers in which fairness is given a central place.

• Part two seeks to apply the concepts discussed earlier to see what light the alternative economic approaches can in principle shed on the various steps in an anti-dumping investigation; with an emphasis on the Community Interest criterion.

• Part three applies the reasoning of the previous sections to propose a set of questions which might be asked during proceedings from an economic point of view, not in order to propose a simple economic calculus as the basis for decision-making, but to enable those making the decision on overall policy grounds to have the best information at their disposal. Although there is scope for better enumeration of the potential costs and benefits, it is argued that formal Cost Benefit Analysis is not likely to be a useful decision-making tool. On the other hand it seems likely that if more information can be collected on a long term basis about industries affected by dumping and by anti-dumping measures a more systematic monitoring of the impact of decisions could be fruitful.

• Part four summarises these recommendations.

The annexes of the report will remain confidential to the Commission services. They will, in the light of the analysis presented in this paper, look back at the effects of past anti-

dumping actions for a selected number of industries. The conclusions will however be very tentative.<sup>1</sup>

We are not starting from zero in this study. We have the benefit of the work of Prof. Willig (1996) and Grant Thornton (1992). Prof. Willig undertook a valuable exercise in analysing the relationship between competition concepts and dumping. Grant Thornton were asked to develop the notion of strategic dumping, to test whether one could operationalise it in selected cases and to comment on the Community interest, and we will explore the relationship between those two frameworks. Both of these studies have been carefully read and appropriate lessons drawn but are not quoted here. They have not been published but their contents are available to the Commission

# 1. ECONOMIC THEORIES OF DUMPING AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP TO LEGAL CONCEPTS

Before discussing the theoretical analysis of anti-dumping it must be noted here that we define dumping as in the GATT/WTO codes and the EU legislation as pricing in export markets at levels that are below prices or "normal values" in the home market, i.e. international price discrimination.<sup>2</sup>

Under the GATT/WTO codes dumping, though not illegal per se is actionable if it can be shown to have caused injury. EU legislation is unusual in requiring an examination of the overall Community Interest in addition to tests for dumping injury and causation.

We have to note as recent studies have done that dumping as defined by GATT covers quite a broad range of economic circumstances.<sup>3</sup> These can be broadly defined as:

- 1) Monopolistic predatory pricing
- 2) Strategic behaviour falling short of monopolistic predation
- 3) Price discrimination aimed at market entry
- 4) Cyclical price cutting (price discriminating or selling below cost)
- 5) Behaviour by state trading enterprises, not based on commercial considerations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It is unlikely that our study will be able to offer definitive evaluations of the impact of dumping and antidumping in the cases we are looking at for two reasons:

a) much of the data for doing this is simply not available and one of our conclusions will be that more data is needed for a proper ex post evaluation of the effects of dumping or measures to respond, and it is one of the recommendations that more follow-up data should be collected.

b) a proper evaluation of the effects of dumping or measures requires a clearly specified account of what would have happened otherwise (the counter-factual or anti-monde and it is beyond our capability to do more than guess at the alternative scenarios).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  If a seller is charging below normal value at home as well as abroad there can actually be dumping findings without actual price discrimination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> We draw on the unpublished work of Prof. Willig for the OECD and Grant Thornton for the Commission.

At one extreme we have firms cutting prices to drive rivals out of business in order to create or preserve monopoly power. In other cases we have firms with no prospect of market power at all forced to lower prices in order to enter new markets.

Some forms of dumping are more harmful than others. Many economists would argue that only the first case of predatory monopolistic dumping is a cause for concern. This report does not share that view. The argument in the current report is that there is a wider range of circumstances than pure predatory monopolistic dumping which may justify anti-dumping action. But whilst it is clear that action to stop predatory monopolistic dumping would be per se in the Community Interest, in all other cases there is room for a detailed case by case examination of the impact of the imposition or non-imposition of the measures on the Community as a whole.

## 1.1. Types of dumping

*There are many different economic phenomena covered by the legal definition of dumping* 

#### 1.1.1. Predatory dumping and monopolisation

Everyone agrees monopolising predatory dumping should be addressed by antidumping duties. Competition rules are not likely to be sufficient, not least because, if the monopoly is foreign controlled, the EU would have less power over it. However, in case where monopolisation has already occurred, the advantages accruing from economies of scale may make it necessary to distinguish between the existence of anti-dumping laws and their practical application.

Pure monopolistic predation occurs when a firm (or a cartel) with a dominant position in one market seeks to drive all other firms out of the market in order to abuse the subsequently acquired dominant position by raising prices. There is a long standing debate in the economics literature about the possibility of firms actually being able to do this. Trade economists and the Chicago School of industrial economists have systematically denied that predation is a realistic possibility and this view has been shared by many trade economists. US anti-trust law has been heavily influenced by attempts to demonstrate that firms could never re-coup losses they would initially incur in doing this.

There is little dispute that when it is clear that a foreign firm or group of firms is deliberately seeking to drive our firms out of business in order to establish a dominant position on the EU market anti-dumping measures are justified. It is easy to see why the EU would not be satisfied with the right to apply its own competition rules ex post in such cases. Within the EU the competition rules are supplemented by the firm guarantees of reciprocal market access offered by the rules of the internal market (the "four freedoms"). In addition, standards of proof, time delays and problems of evidence would

mean that one would have to wait until damage had already occurred. If a monopoly that established itself were foreign controlled we would have less power over it, than if it were wholly based in the EU. Any evidence for the origin of anti-competitive conduct would be abroad.

Economic analysis therefore suggests that anti-dumping measures will be advisable if by action we can thereby prevent a monopoly arising; it is better still if the existence of our laws and the threat of their use deters attempts to monopolise. In clear cases of attempted predation the issue of Community Interest is self-evident. An analysis of the dangers could be part of the Community Interest test.

But what if the monopolisation has already occurred ? Some writers have raised the question of whether it is rational if the foreign firm has somehow acquired an insuperable advantage already. Venables (1991, p.23), for example, suggests that it may be against our interests to intervene. Venables argues that if economies of scale are very great the benefits of concentrating production in one firm could bring down costs so much that even if the firm maximises monopoly profits, prices to our consumers will be lower than if there were duplication of investment, and the gains to users and consumers could outweigh the lost profits to our producers. There is therefore a clear need to distinguish the effects of the existence of anti-dumping laws and their actual application. We may well want to keep anti-dumping laws in place as a deterrent to the abuse of asymmetric advantage.

## 1.1.2. Strategic Behaviour

This covers a variety of types of action and what we are above all concerned about is cases where due to the absence of EU-type competition rules foreign firms can engage in strategic behaviour that our firms cannot do.

Economists would define strategic behaviour as action undertaken with a view to influencing the behaviour of rivals. To be more precise, behaviour is strategic if it would not be optimal profit maximising behaviour if the actions of other firms were taken as given, but which becomes profit maximising when the reaction of others is taken into account. Strategic behaviour does not have to be loss-making: it just has to depend for an important part of its profitability on interaction effects. From a competition or trade policy point of view we cannot hope to test for the existence of strategic behaviour by looking for loss-making action.

Strategic behaviour includes:

- Cutting prices in one market in order to signal to a rival that you are prepared to fight a price war there or elsewhere if they undertake any price cutting at all.
- Deliberately building more capacity than you need now and openly committing yourself to high levels of output even if other firms enter
- Signing clauses with customers to match any rebates that new entrants can offer.

The extreme example of strategic behaviour is when firms engage in monopolistic predation, so that rivals leave and prices to consumers can be put up. There is however a wide spectrum of behaviour that can be termed strategic competition, some of which is quite harmless, some of which can have anti-competitive effects that fall far short of predatory monopolisation.

Most firms engage in strategic behaviour of some kinds. What we are concerned about here is where one firm or group of firms has options which other firms do not have due to some form of asymmetric market closure of their own market.

On the other hand simply selling at low prices because you have low costs is not necessarily strategic behaviour in our sense; nor is selling initially below cost to enter a new market in order to make customers try out your product.

Simple strategic behaviour may be designed to exploit asymmetric advantages or a "long purse" to enlarge market share short of monopolisation without necessarily inducing total disappearance of rivals, and the firm undertaking the action may be content with the enlarged market share without necessarily raising prices.

In addition to strategic behaviour designed to reduce the strength of rivals we must also remember that strategic behaviour can sometimes take the form of devices to influence rivals to encourage them to collude. For example, cutting prices sharply, perhaps in one market only, may be to "punish" firms who have broken price agreements in order to enforce collusion: not to drive the rivals out of business but to invite them to put up prices again.

It must be emphasised that strategic behaviour goes on all the time. It is only impossible in markets with total and anonymous free entry where any response you may induce from a known rival can be offset by a new entrant. Such purely competitive situations may be rare but they are not impossible: globalisation of business is widely thought to increase the scope for strategic behaviour in some markets (notably where there are emerging global oligopolies) and to reduce it in others where newly industrialising countries can enter and exit on an unlimited scale.

Nor is all strategic behaviour harmful. Aggressive R&D behaviour may be intended to secure such a lead that you can deter your rivals from entering a particular generation of a certain product. But if they stay in business it may prompt them to compete more vigorously for the subsequent generation or in other products. This kind of Schumpeterian strategic competition was strongly advocated within the EU by the Cecchini report. On the other hand we do not wish to allow a lead in one product secured through subsidy or asymmetric market access to drive other firms out so they do not have a chance to return.

As a general rule we do not want to stop all forms of strategic competition in the EU economy, nor in fact do we want to stop all forms of strategic competition coming from

abroad. The basic problem is that it is not easy to identify what kinds of strategic behaviour are harmful, which is likely to require a case by case analysis.

In general we should worry about strategic behaviour of two kinds:

Firstly, where it is intended to use asymmetric market access to enhance the relative position of one group of firms with market power at the expense of others and thereby reduce the intensity of competition in world markets without necessarily eliminating it altogether.

Secondly where strategic behaviour has the same effects as state-led "strategic trade policy" by using market closure to allow firms first mover advantages that enable them to capture a higher share of the profits ("rents") in the global market place than without the market access asymmetry.

#### 1.1.3. Market opening dumping

This is probably our least concern - cutting prices is the normal way of entering a new market and doing it does not necessarily require any form of unfair advantage.

In addition to sales below normal value to influence the behaviour of rivals there is also the simple case of firms lowering their prices below their home market prices or even in the short run their full costs in order to influence consumers alone. That is to say the seller cuts prices on the assumption that his action will have a negligible effect on other firms' sales or prices. For a firm which is small and has no reputation in the foreign market, price cutting is the normal way enter a new market. Such behaviour may be facilitated by closure of the exporters' home market but it need not be.

In a case where the foreign firm undertakes market opening dumping in a downturn this is close to our next case of cyclical dumping.

#### 1.1.4. Cyclical Dumping

This is a natural phenomenon, although it can be harmful where certain firms can do it and others cannot. The important thing is to check whether these firms can ensure that only they benefit from the cyclical peaks and an ability to off load their goods cheaply during a downturn.

This can occur in a variety of circumstances. Essentially it involves producers selling below full or even marginal cost during a recession in order to keep plant in business. What is difficult to address satisfactorily is the fact that industries typified by cyclical dumping are also characterised by large price fluctuations that are not anti-competitive. This is quite normal behaviour in all economies but can be harmful if some firms have opportunities to do this that others do not. As Ethier (1987) notes, our main concern should not be with the immediate effects of rivals off loading their surpluses on to our market, but with the effect that the rules of competition have on market structures and the distribution of activity, for example, through the effects of additional riskiness on investment.

The central problem does not seem to be the existence of cyclical sales below normal value in the sense of full cost plus a reasonable profit as such. The problem is surely if some producers can take advantage of others' market in down turns but do not allow these other producers to do the same.

Technically it is possible for a finding of dumping to occur even when markets are actually globally open and prices equal throughout the world if any of the foreign producers are selling below cost, in which case constructed normal value will show dumping and injury may also appear. The long run impact of such dumping is likely to depend on the circumstances surrounding it, notably whether retaliation is possible.<sup>4</sup>

From the point of view of consumers and users cyclical dumping is beneficial when it occurs. The risk of damage to the EU would appear to arise if dumping by foreign firms artificially increases the riskiness of investment. But we have a serious problem defining "artificial". It is suggested by many US critics of Japan that if Japanese firms treat labour as a fixed cost this encourages Japanese firms to carry on producing at marginal cost and incites the US firms to exit. If the US firms can in fact easily enter and exit, and do so they may end up with more profit, but if the high riskiness created by others induces irreversible exit and no new investment, the firms with rigid production structures may end up more profitable than before. But is this a distortionary asymmetry? It clearly is if foreign firms cannot benefit from price peaks or from the ability to off load in downturns on the Japanese market.

## 1.1.5. State Trading Dumping

Where commercial factors are not relevant, and foreign producers are motivated by random variations in production and pricing, this can act as a deterrent to investment in a market economy. Our main concern should be to avoid distortions for investors caused by avoidable departures from world prices as signals.

The cases discussed previously have been of dumping carried out by private firms. It is customary to assume that this will be motivated by considerations of profit, which inevitably put a limit on the scope for artificially low prices, even though there may be cases where firms with very strong asymmetric market positions can afford to aim at maximum sales or growth even at the expense of current profit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sales below full cost (equivalent to normal value) are possible in cyclical industries within the EU, but competition rules eliminate most of the sources of asymmetric capacity to sustain sales below cost. State aid rules will control "deep pocket" effects through subsidisation. However, nothing can prevent some firms having better relations with their banks than others.

But a further range of dumping cases is represented by exports from state trading countries where commercial considerations are not paramount. It is unlikely that such producers will be motivated by planned strategic considerations, but rather by random variations in internal production and pricing patterns, of accounting anomalies etc. including arbitrary and multiple exchange rates.

The random uncertainties coming from such behaviour clearly are capable of acting as a deterrent to investment in a market economy. In terms of the uncertainty argument developed above, one can make a case that the uncertainties introduced by arbitrary and capricious behaviour by state trading countries cannot reasonably be predicted by entrepreneurs. And as Miranda (1996) argues, fluctuating prices induced by non-commercially oriented behaviour by state traders can give the wrong signals to investors.

## 1.2. Economic Approaches

## 1.2.1. Why oppose dumping?

Lawyers and economists tend to differ on this. Economists stress efficiency not fairness and are reluctant to acknowledge that producers have rights other than those associated with maximising efficiency. As such, they argue that the justification for anti-dumping laws primarily covers behaviour that would be banned for efficiency reasons under competition rules. On the other hand, producers would argue that they are legally entitled to protection against 'unfair' behaviour by foreign firms (which they cannot do in return) and this entitlement applies regardless of strict notions of economic efficiency.

Having reviewed the causes of dumping we should consider what economic analysis has to say about appropriate responses.

There are many points of view on if and when action should be taken against dumped imports. These broadly fall into two categories, which can be summarised as efficiency and fairness issues, and which are usually associated respectively with economic and legal perspectives.

Where dumping allows foreign firms to successfully undertake anti-competitive behaviour which would be banned for efficiency reasons under internal competition rules there is an obvious case for anti-dumping action; we do observe a limited number of cases under competition, anti-trust and regulatory rules where excessively low prices have been condemned, but on the whole the anti-dumping rules in the EU and elsewhere catch a much wider ranger of behaviour than is caught by competition or anti-trust rules.

But EU competition laws are not only concerned with efficiency per se, but with a notion of "fairness" in the sense of equal competitive opportunities to all producers, "levelling the playing field" and this has a counterpart in international trade where market

conditions are not symmetrical across borders and foreign firms have scope for practices which domestic firms do not and which may give an asymmetrical advantage. Within the EU the "four freedoms" pertain and mutual market access is guaranteed by the law. It is clear that the market integrating effects of EU competition law encourage arbitrage to undermine any attempt by a producer to use a strong position in one EU market to support low price sales in another and state aid control similarly reduces scope for asymmetric advantage.<sup>5</sup>

It must be noted that whilst there is universal agreement in principle about the right policy response where dumping produces economic inefficiency, there is no such agreement about the correct response to dumping caused by asymmetric market conditions as such. Economists writing in the tradition of Jacob Viner, notably represented by the US Chicago School, have argued that it is only if asymmetric conditions produce inefficiency in our own market that we should intervene. If the foreign firm is using his closed home market to drive our producers out of our market with a view to obtaining a monopoly which he can then abuse, we should intervene. If such a circumstance arises within the EU we can correct the distortion at source, but internationally we are forced to rely on trade policy.

If foreigners are selling at a loss but with no hope of ever gaining a monopoly, Chicago economists, who are indeed doubtful about state intervention of any kind, would recommend allowing consumers to take advantage of this and allowing market forces to redirect production elsewhere, and would not recommend any sort of anti-dumping or anti-trust action. Losses to producers from very intense competition in markets that cannot be monopolised are regarded as irrelevant by Chicago economists. Moreover Chicago economists such as Milton Friedman have long maintained that almost any monopoly will be eroded by new entry, and this was reinforced by the 1980s emphasis on contestable markets.<sup>6</sup> It must be acknowledged that most international trade economics is based on models of free entry into markets which corresponds roughly to the Chicago view. This is partly a matter of intellectual tradition and partly reflects the fact that international markets are likely to be much more open to new entrants than any one national market.

On the other hand producers themselves argue that they have a legal right to be protected against "unfair" action by foreign producers, which can be characterised as actions ruled out for home firms by "artificial" rules or entry barriers in the foreign market; and that this right is irrespective of the effects on domestic consumers.

A further perspective which is as yet quite poorly developed in the economic literature would argue that the consequences of anti-dumping action should be judged in systemic terms. The effects of the existence of anti-dumping rules in deterring or encouraging

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Short term price discrimination for market entry by new firms could still be observed even if competition rules are fully applied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The theory of contestable markets developed by W.J. Baumol and others formalised an old view that high concentration in an industry did not matter if there was scope for potential new entry. They showed that what mattered was the scale of sunk i.e. irreversible costs, not just initial outlays. See Baumol (1982)

certain types of behaviour needs to be examined separately from their ex post use. This perspective does not lead automatically to a clear cut conclusion about the effects of rules of different kinds. Jagdish Bhagwati (1988) whilst criticising many individual policy measures has noted that the existence of anti-dumping and safeguard laws may have positive effects in ensuring the acceptability of otherwise free trade. Critics of the anti-dumping laws such as Messerlin (1990) on the other hand argue that anti-dumping laws allow anti-competitive behaviour to be bolstered by the threat of anti-dumping action against those who compete too vigorously. It must be acknowledged at the outset that from the systemic point of view there is not a simple model that we can use, for example to assess the effect of anti-dumping on investment. Clearly if the existence of anti-dumping laws reduced economic uncertainty for investors they *could* still be beneficial even if their actual application caused economic losses so long as those losses were small.

It must be borne in mind that as a recent economic survey of the subject observed: "In addition to our deficient treatment of the fundamental issues involving factor markets, we have no theory of anti-dumping laws" (Ethier 1987, p.938). Our conclusions will necessarily be tentative; facts and theory are disputable and our aim is to end up not with precise substantive policy recommendations but with suggestions for how more useful policy analysis can be carried out when there is rather basic disagreement on some of the fundamental issues.

## **1.2.2.** Approaches in International and Industrial Economics

The debate, which has previously been dominated by the traditional approach of Viner has tended to conclude that dumping is only really a problem when it entails monopolistic predation, and that this is unlikely to occur in reality. New work in industrial economics using game theory, however, indicates the scope for strategic behaviour and undermines the traditional consensus that asymmetric "deep purses" are not a problem. This work has not yet really been fully applied to the dumping issue.

Although in recent years a number of new contributions have been made to the economists' theory of dumping, and the issue of imperfect competition and strategic trade policy has been increasingly discussed in trade policy analysis, it is fair to say that recent developments in the industrial economics of strategic behaviour by firms have barely begun to be addressed in the literature on dumping.

Ethier (1987) notes that in most economic literature there is a strong a priori scepticism of the likelihood of pure monopolistic predatory dumping. More recent studies have stressed that there may be factors other than monopolistic intent behind dumping, some of them harmless, but others involving forms of strategic behaviour that are very loosely linked to monopolisation. In an extension to this, studies (such as that by Belderbos and Holmes (1995)) suggest that dumping can cause adverse effects from a competition point of view even when it is not monopolising in aim.

The recent work emphasises new developments in industrial economics where game theory and analyses of strategic behaviour have called into question the view which became prevalent in the 1980s that free entry and exit of firms ("contestability") could be relied on to guarantee competitive conditions even where only a small number of firms actually operate. The biggest problems from dumping and other forms of strategic competition come about when there are irreversibilities of investment and major sunk costs. The Chicago approach to markets assumes free entry and exit between economic activities, so that resources leaving one activity will readily find employment elsewhere. Alternative approaches worry more about the risk that firms and workers will become stranded with obsolete capital or skills.

Almost all analysis of dumping by international trade economists using the traditional tools of welfare economics is cast in terms of competition analysis for a number of reasons. Economic theory is built up around the notion of efficiency as an objective and the maximisation of competition has always been seen as the key to this. The prevailing opinion among both industrial and trade economists is that predatory monopolising behaviour is very rare and, if it occurs, very unlikely to succeed. As Ethier (1987) noted, economists are loathe to accept that anti-competitive behaviour is likely to lead to durable gain in many cases, above all if there is subsequent entry into markets from which one set of competitors have been excluded.

Nevertheless recent work in industrial economics on strategic behaviour emphasises the scope for strategic behaviour between firms. Modern industrial economics based on game theory show that forms of predatory and strategic behaviour are much more likely than was once supposed. Tirole (1990, p.380) in his major treatise on this subject observes: "Economists may have neglected the links between financial institutions and predation". The models of strategic predatory behaviour are very complex and efforts to incorporate them into the theory of international trade have so far led to little in the way of firm conclusions (the theory of strategic trade policy has so far offered rather few clear generalisations for policy-makers other than the need for caution).

This literature is mainly concerned with oligopolistic firms in the same geographic market, though there may be more than one product market. Belderbos and Holmes (1995) argue that in the case of the Japanese electronics industry a case can be made that closure of the Japanese colour television (CTV) market could have enabled Japanese firms to set prices at such levels that exit by US firms was induced, rendering the whole world market less competitive than it otherwise would have been. This model provides one possible interpretation of the CTV experience, and in the paper it is argued that the US Supreme Court took a rather narrow view in its rejection of the anti-trust case brought by the US producers. It follows that if the interpretation hypothesised in this case is correct, and if the US Supreme Court's interpretation of the anti-trust law is one that will stick, a case can be made that anti-trust rules are inadequate to deal with "multi-market strategic behaviour". It must be noted that in the model used by Belderbos and Holmes only the simplest forms of asymmetric behaviour are assumed. The problem of technological spillovers is not addressed and the model assumes collusive behaviour in

the home market only. If these and other strategic effects are taken into account, then the problem addressed here is more acute still.

As we noted, strategic behaviour by firms has been mainly addressed in the context of strategic trade policy orchestrated by governments. Krugman (1986) surveys the literature. Where there are big economies of scale, government policies to close markets can guarantee a profit for home producers, if they invest first. These firms can afford to cut prices in any foreign market and drive rivals out of business - even without selling below average variable cost, the predation yardstick in anti-trust law.

It must also be recognised that the economic literature both in industrial economics and trade is very reluctant to address the issue of "fairness". Patrick Low (1993, p.27) in an influential work on trade policy is typical in noting that fairness issues have only just begun to be addressed by economists and also in his expressing strong doubts about the applicability of ideas of fairness from an economic point of view: he argues like most others that "fairness and unfairness" are too subjective as concepts and argues that in the US, anti-dumping and "unfair" trade remedies under section 301 of the 1974 Trade Act have largely replaced safeguard actions etc. under Section 201 because "unfairness" is very easy to prove once injury has been claimed. Critics of EU anti-dumping policy have made similar arguments. The need for economists to address fairness issues is developed by the regulatory economist E. Zajac(1995, esp. chaps. 17 & 18 on "Unfair pricing"). He observes; "In my experience, the very mention of fairness or justice can be a cause for an economist's methodological attack that fairness arguments are simply a smoke screen for special interest, something to be exposed for the fraud they really are. However in the complex world of actual policy making, the economists' neat division into efficiency and equity has serious ethical problems ..." (p.77).

The Chicago School of Law and Economics have made a central premise that economic law and policy should be only be about economic efficiency . They would reject any legal doctrines that entrench any economic rights at all on grounds of fairness rather than efficiency. Other schools of thought are less specific but most economists do implicitly accept the Chicago assumption, hence they reject the idea that trade law or policy should be legitimately about trade-offs between the rights of different actors or between different policy aims. It is a central premise of most economics texts that trade policy should not be about producers' "rights". The utilitarian calculus that underlies most economic reasoning is based solely on the consequences of policy action. The present report recognises that this approach is uncongenial to most decision makers and therefore proposes an alternative to simply adding up pluses and minuses in a utilitarian manner without attention to the implicit rights of the parties concerned.

As the study by Zajac shows, since the work of Tinbergen in the 1950s economic theory has been based on the principle that effective policy making requires that there should as many different policy instruments as targets. Gual (1995) suggests that competition policy should be directed at market imperfections arising from internal anti-competitive behaviour, trade policy at distortions to competition arising abroad and industrial policy at taxing or subsidising activities inside the EU whose social value was less or greater

than its private value. If any such policies result in "unfair" redistributions of income, economic analysis suggests that these should be dealt with by directly redistributive policies with social aims, (as allowed under the Treaty of Paris for ECSC products, but not in the Rome Treaty).

Zajac (1995), using similar logic to Gual (1995) observes that in the case of responding to dumping, economic theory "immediately suggests a policy whereby the US welcomes foreign goods sold here below cost and then compensates displaced workers either in cash or through retraining programmes." But he notes that this is not feasible and the lack of policy instruments raises major dilemmas : "Utilitarian economics would adopt policies where even in the short run overall societal benefits outweigh overall societal costs". He also concludes in chapter on unfair pricing: "As the NAFTA experience indicates, those who lose in the short run will not be easily persuaded of the fairness of a policy that promotes long run economic efficiency." (p.226).

#### 1.2.2.1. What should determine our policy response ?

The impact of the existence of anti-dumping rules as a deterrent should be distinguished from effects of their use: effects on investment of predictable rules vs. possible costs of sticking rigidly to legal rules. The laws currently offer the opportunity to strike a balance between this desire for predictability and allowing some discretion for the decision-maker. What is important is therefore how this discretion in the form of the Community Interest criterion is applied.

The question where economists may differ from lawyers is: if we have the anti-dumping laws in place, does it make sense to apply them routinely wherever dumping injury and causation can be shown in order to give all economic actors legal certainty and economic predictability, or should we apply the law on a selective basis in the light of the likely economic consequences of actually taking or not taking measures?

There are circumstances in which we might agree with Venables (1991) that antidumping measures could be non optimal *ex post*, but still wish to keep the rules in place as a deterrent. As Ethier (1987) observed, this idea has been very little explored in the economic literature if only because it is very hard to estimate what would have happened to investment under other rules. It is very important however that it should be considered explicitly.

As a matter of logic, proof that use of anti-dumping laws did us harm in certain cases does not show that those laws should not have existed, if their existence deterred a lot of harmful behaviour. On the other hand economists of all persuasions would agree that in developing a policy the right approach is to design a policy to strike the right balance between the ability of the decision-maker to exercise discretion and the desire for predictability, rather than opting for one extreme or the other. We can take it that the present law does provide a framework for this balance and we are talking about how the discretion on Community Interest might be exercised.

#### The cause of the dumping and the impact of the injury

Economic theory suggests that we should find out the circumstances of the dumping to be able to deduce ability of exporters to do us long term harm.

From the point of view of economic theory one can make a strong case that the appropriate response to dumping depends on the circumstances behind the dumping. Practical and legal considerations would seem to rule out any suggestion that additional criteria could be introduced into the legal test for dumping in the regulation but the issues can be considered relevant for the purposes of Community Interest.

For example, consider the case of cyclical dumping. This is perhaps the example where new approaches to industrial economics suggest most different interpretations of the dumping phenomenon to those of earlier work, whilst at the same time however not giving us any absolutely firm ideas as to what to do.

Economists have traditionally argued that the temporary nature of the dumping means that we should just take advantage of cheap foreign imports. On the other hand in the perspective of asymmetric advantage that we developed in an earlier study for the Commission<sup>7</sup> it is clear that if our market remains open in a cyclical down turn while the foreign market does not, then we run the risk that foreign firms will be able to stay in business over the trade cycle but ours will go out of business They will then be able to make the profits in the upturn and suffer less losses in the downswing (our firms having disappeared). From the point of view of the longer term issue of investor expectations the asymmetric closure could thus make it possible for foreign industry to survive and prosper while our industry, with identical cost conditions, would be unable to weather the cyclical storms and thus disappear.

The overall effect on our economy is not entirely clear from the point of view of welfare economics. If there is free entry and free competition for their own firms in the foreign market, competition among them might be enough to ensure that our users are still supplied with the product at a competitive price even in the upturn, while benefiting from discounts in the downturn. And if our producers were themselves originally in a competitive market, economic theory suggests the forestalled new investment would have brought only marginal profits.

But as Dixit and Pindyck (1994) point out if our firms leave a sector it may take bigger profit increases to induce them to re-enter than it would have to keep them in the industry. (This point is elaborated further below)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Holmes, Smith and Belderbos (1992).

The question from this point of view becomes whether the circumstances of dumping are in effect loading a disproportionate amount of globally unavoidable market risk on to our firms, thus reducing their perceived profits.

Such market conditions could be investigated. This means at minimum trying to find out if our firms are unable to export to the foreign market. If trade goes both ways, then we may conclude that the effect of any anti-dumping action may just be to reduce "normal" cyclical competition. From an efficiency point of view the economist would be interested in discovering whether by any chance dumping action, far from being designed to drive our firms out of business is part of a collusive tactic designed to signal to them to raise their prices in world markets.

On the other hand a comprehensive investigation of market conditions in foreign markets could lead to more support for certain measures that have hitherto been highly criticised. For example, economists have for a long time been very critical of anti-dumping actions in situations where prices are the same at home and abroad, and where the dumping is due to home prices being below a constructed "normal value". Stress should be not so much on sales at a loss, but on whether somehow foreign firms can sustain this better than EU firms due to an asymmetric market position giving them an unfairly deep pocket. We have a justification for the possibility that export sales at the same price as home sales could be a form of predation or at least unfair asymmetric strategic competition if they are in some sense below cost, but we really need to ask how this subsidy is being paid for: if the exporter is simply gambling that he can move quickly down a learning curve and this option would have been open to our firms we can hardly condemn the foreigners. If our firms have been unwilling to take the risk, any injury should really be considered due to their lack of entrepreneurialism. But if the option was not open to them because the foreign firm had market power, in another segment of the home market that it could use as a milch-cow - and our firms did not- then we have a case for policy intervention.

#### Predictability for investors

Dumping and anti-dumping can lead to uncertainty which in turn affects investment decisions. It is therefore argued that measures are necessary to deal with the adverse effects of competition which stems from arbitrary pricing decisions which could not have been foreseen. New research suggests that if trade policy can reduce investor uncertainty it can be helpful but theory points out that using trade policy can also create new uncertainties, for example if a much greater number of firms enter the market to take advantage of the stabilised prices.

A factor not usually taken into account in the simple analysis of the impact of dumping is the impact on investment of the uncertainty caused by dumping or anti-dumping action. The point was made in the course of our business interviews for this study that risk premia on investment are greatly raised by unpredictable competition from foreign sources - that could not have been foreseen by businessmen even with the best intelligence because it is based on arbitrary and distortionary pricing. It may be noted that if the price undertakings on DRAMs<sup>8</sup> had a positive effect it would have been to give the EU based producers a degree of predictability about the nature of the competition they would face. Such considerations can surely not be dismissed but they must be subject to analysis. For example in industries where entry is extremely free no amount of restrictions on one set of producers can give general guarantees that investment by EU firms will be successful.

An argument was developed by Newbery and Stiglitz (1984) which is not specifically about dumping, but the argument can be applied. They distinguish between the effects of uncertainty on investment and on production once investments are made. They develop a model with two countries. If there are unpredictable uncertainties that cause market shares to fluctuate wildly between them, they suggest that trade measures which will prospectively stabilise shares may reduce the risk premium on investment in both countries. From a theoretical point of view complex insurance contracts would be better but if these are unavailable there can be cases in which the efficiency losses of the trade measures can be offset by the predictability generated.

The major new work of Dixit and Pindyck *Investment under Uncertainty* (1994, esp. ch. 9) addresses these issues in great depth, but they show how difficult it is to know for sure whether policy measures which appear to reduce uncertainty actually do so. The basis of their theory is that where there is market uncertainty firms will be deterred from investing by the risk that they will forego a better later opportunity.

They argue that where there is uncertainty and sunk cost, we cannot rely on rational profit maximising investors to automatically rush in to invest the moment a price premium appears in a certain market. Thus for quite considerable periods of time it is normal to expect consumers in the territories where firms have shut down to be paying profit premia to producers where production continues, at the expense of trade output and employment. Dixit and Pindyck discuss at some length the implications of the new research for anti-trust and anti-dumping. Their conclusions are (as usual) ambiguous. They argue that in the presence of uncertainty irreversible investments *and* market failures there may be a case for trade taxation to reduce risk in certain circumstances.

Dixit and Pindyck throw new light on the economics of cyclical industries. They point out that where there is uncertainty and irreversibility one should expect cyclical industries to display periods of prices above and below average without instant entry and exit. On the other hand they also point out that firms will not enter such an industry if they risk the downside of low cyclical prices but do not have the bonus of cyclical profits. There is clearly a problem if as a result of market access asymmetries there are some competitors who can always keep the bonus but offset the risk on to others. This does not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> DRAMs from Japan : Undertakings OJ L 20/1990, Definitive Duties OJ L 193/1990. DRAMS from Korea : Undertakings OJ L 66/1993, Definitive Duties OJ L 66/1993.

automatically generate a case for policy action but it raises the question of whether risk can be redistributed.

But they conclude that it is not necessarily the case that sharp cyclical fluctuations do always reflect market failure and argue that "if government introduces price floors to support firms in bad periods, firms will react accordingly. They will enter the industry in greater numbers, and that can make the bad times even worse." They argue that it is normal for markets to display cyclical price swings in a sequence: low prices, exit, high prices - very slow new entry.

Oligopolistic industries, they note, are very hard to analyse: on the one hand uncertainty about rivals' strategy provides an incentive to wait, but this must be set against the greater advantages of first moving.

The question is whether action such as anti-dumping can genuinely reduce the riskiness of cyclical industries by ensuring that it is more evenly spread across producers in different markets. Such considerations would seem to argue strongly against such measures as the minimum price undertakings for semi-conductors. However the Dixit-Pindyck critique of price floors applies above all when price support would attract new entry: in that case it gives the *illusion* of increased predictability. Stability of prices is in that case offset by induced entry and the new entry still ends up being unprofitable and firms may end up having to scrap their new plants. On the other hand where entry is very difficult and slow the price stabilisation can lead to profit stabilisation, and may genuinely be able to reduce uncertainty.<sup>9</sup>

All in all the lessons of the Dixit-Pindyck and Newbery-Stiglitz theories seem to tell us two things. The first is that we need to be very careful to work out whether policy interventions will actually be able to reduce uncertainty and so the risk premium on investment (rather than merely shifting the costs somewhere else in the economy or creating a new and equally disruptive uncertainty by new entry). The second is to highlight once more that entry conditions are a crucial variable for analysis.<sup>10</sup>

The foregoing considerations suggest that there is a perfectly proper scope for investigation of when such conditions are the product of "normal" market conditions and when the uncertainties and risks regarding recoverability of sunk costs result asymmetrically from different market conditions.

## **1.2.3.** The lessons of the theories

Anti-dumping can be used to address more than predation but new economic models call for careful case by case study of likely impact. Determining whether the overall benefits to the economy of applying measures outweigh the effects of not doing so requires some consideration of the circumstances behind the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This may well have been the case for semi-conductors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See OECD Costs and Benefits of Protection 1985.

dumping. In a number of instances trade policy can be a useful instrument but it is unlikely to be obvious in advance which these cases are. Thus it must be attempted to use the community interest test as a way of distinguishing those cases where the overall effects will be positive.

From the point of view of economic theory, we have argued the optimal strategy depends on whether the use of anti-dumping action will in a prospective sense generate more benefits to out economy than not using them, which in turn will usually depend in part on the circumstances which have given rise to the dumping.

The big debate is whether anti-dumping policy can ever have a positive role to play in cases where the aim is other than *prevention* of monopolisation.

A key element in the argument is the extent to which foreign firms possess an asymmetric advantage which enables them to engage in something resembling cross-subsidisation, though dumping does not require selling below cost.

Economic liberals are strongly critical of cross subsidisation when undertaken by nationalised or regulated public utilities, and it may seem paradoxical that unfair advantage gained in this way in the course of international trade is regarded as quite normal when undertaken by private firms. This can be explained by the belief that state monopolies have unlimited "long purses" from their dominant position which they may be able to abuse against other firms.

Such practices are explicitly condemned in the WTO services agreement. It would be argued by liberal economists that such conditions are rarely reproduced in normal competitive markets. Even if there were a high tariff, it is argued for example by the OECD that free entry is likely to occur by home firms (or even foreign investors) into a market with a significant protection which will eliminate the scope for asymmetric abuse.

But what about firms in non-competitive markets? Clearly if the exporter has a closed home market it can charge a higher price there without attracting competition from abroad in the form of re-shipment of its cut price exports. There is an asymmetric advantage. It can thus sell abroad below its home price and even below full cost indefinitely without losing money, raising its market share at the expense of our home producers, creating dumping and potential injury in the terms of the regulation.

The view of most economists would be that our firms are genuinely at risk if there are foreign firms with access to an asymmetric dominant position or "sanctuary market" but that the mere existence of strong competition from foreign firms engaged in price discrimination does not by itself provide an economic case for acting against any injury so caused if acting against this injury causes disproportionate costs to the rest of the economy.

It must be stressed that this is how the issue would be approached strictly from the point of view of the efficiency of our economy. The economic calculus is not seeking to find out why the dumping is occurring in order to impose a criterion different to that of the law on what is fair: the economic view point is solely concerned with the overall effects on our economy. The economic efficiency perspective is particularly concerned with cases where when dumping has occurred, stopping it might benefit the injured producers but not the whole economy. Even more delicate is the case when stopping dumping would give short term relief to an industry and perhaps giving it the ability to adjust but at the expense of curtailing its *incenti*ve to adjust. In such cases a legal and political judgement must be made whether the fact that the injury is caused by unfairness justifies making other parts of the economy pay for the redress.<sup>11</sup>

Suppose country X is adopting a strategic trade policy and using tariffs and public procurement to allow their firms to cover fixed costs of say telecoms equipment, we wish to stop this; but as we discuss elsewhere once the foreigners have succeeded do we have an economic interest in punishing them? There is clearly community interest in the general respect for trade laws, as it gives predictability to investors, but this must obviously be set against the gains from pragmatism. There is a trade-off between the deterrent effects of anti-dumping laws and the potential costs of actually invoking them.

As we noted industrial economics has some limited lessons for the analysis of dumping : harmful dumping may occur but the correct response depends on details of the case. Indeed what looks like dumping could even be action by members of a global oligopoly to "discipline" members and stop price cutting. In this case the imposition of duties or undertakings would do the work of the cartel for it.

Anti-dumping policy is very rarely an optimal policy, but there is a broad class of situations in which trade policy is at least second best (i.e. better than doing nothing at all), although such cases cannot be easily identified in advance. Very detailed information is needed on market structure and corporate strategy and a policy that will do good in one case will do harm in circumstances that may be hard to distinguish. The challenge from the economic point of view is to develop the Community Interest test as a filter that will, in those cases where dumping, injury and causation have been shown distinguish between those where the future consequences of action are more favourable than not acting.

The question for anti-dumping policy is whether we need to know in advance what its effects will be or whether we are content to apply a strict legal rule in order to maintain the principle of legal certainty which should act as a deterrent to harmful dumping, even at the risk of applying it in cases where *ex post* the anti-dumping duties cannot rectify the situation, which their threatened use was designed to deter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> It may be argued that there is an analogy with economic damage caused by criminal acts. We may feel it is morally desirable for this to be stopped at public expense even in some cases when the costs of prevention are higher than the damage. There is ultimately however a public policy choice to be made as to how much society is prepared to pay in such circumstances.

As a matter of logic, proof that use of anti-dumping laws did us harm in certain cases does not show that those laws should not have existed, as many unobservable instances of harmful behaviour may have been deterred. At the same time, from a strictly economic point of view it is not possible to dismiss evidence that in some cases harm is done by the use of laws merely on the grounds that there may have been unobserved benefits.

One lesson from statistical theory must be recognised: if we are to have a Community Interest filter, there is a trade off at work. For any given amount of information and knowledge, the more rigorous we are in making sure that we avoid actions which are damaging (e.g. where the costs to user industries disproportionately outweigh the benefits to producers) the more risk we run of not taking action in cases when it is in the EU's strategic interest to do so. On the other hand the more the decision-making process errs on the side of guaranteeing that no producers rights are capriciously denied, the more we run the risk of taking actions whose costs exceed their benefits.

In the light of the preceding analysis we can summarise what economic theory has to say about the best policy in each of the main categories of dumping. An approach using economic theory to examine the circumstances of dumping in more depth would not necessarily lead to a rejection of all anti-dumping complaints.

#### 1) Monopolistic predation

No need to check whether Community Interest if predation danger clear but Community Interest test should establish predation danger.

#### 2) Strategic behaviour

Careful analysis of the state of the global industry, and the nature of asymmetries to see that the strategic behaviour is likely to cause us harm and that we can either redress the damage or deter future injury at acceptable cost.

3) Market opening by new entrants with little or no market power No case for anti-dumping measures; internal adjustment support measures would be socially appropriate if local economic dislocation caused.

## 4) Cyclical dumping

We should establish whether this is normal or apparently the result of asymmetric market access. If market opening abroad is always best solution and cannot be achieved, antidumping could be appropriate if this is capable of redistributing risk between producers in a more efficient manner.

#### 5) State trading

Aim should be to prevent signals which distort investment by our firms and create abnormal risk: restoration of world price is viable aim. We need to distinguish short and long term elements. There is a case for offering some form of risk reducing trade measures where arbitrary and capricious marketing behaviour emerges unexpectedly after our investors have made irreversible investments. However, where the state trader is a dominant player its actions do not merely constitute "noise" in the world price variations. They may well determine the world price and here it would be misleading to signal to investors that the market is not subject to arbitrary fluctuations.

It is worth remembering that many examples will be mixtures of these elements. There is a fine line between monopolistic and merely strategic behaviour; cyclical and state trading dumping also may well be related.

## 2. ECONOMIC ANALYSIS AND THE CURRENT REGULATION

Here we examine the question of what scope there is within the framework of the existing anti-dumping framework for incorporating attention to the concerns traditionally addressed by economists.

Where can economic analysis come into the administration of the law?

The anti-dumping regulation imposes four tests that must be satisfied if measures are to be introduced :

- 1) Existence of dumping
- 2) Injury
- 3) Causation
- 4) Community interest

This report is based on the following understanding of the legal process: dumping, injury and a causal link between them must be demonstrated if measures are to be imposed. In addition we understand Article 21 to require the Commission to examine whether on the basis of the evidence put to, it can conclude that such measures would be clearly against the Community Interest: in that event measures may not be imposed. Otherwise they will be so long as the first three tests are satisfied.

#### 2.1. Where could Economic Analysis be used?

In principle, economic analysis could be used at each stage of the process, though it would seem to be most called for at the level of Community Interest.

There has been much debate about the definition of dumping and the dichotomy between the legal and economic definitions. The present report ignores these issues since the definition of dumping used by EC legislation is based on GATT/WTO rules and is not open to question in isolation.

There is a rich scope for the use of economic analysis in the measurement of injury and in ensuring compliance with the legal requirement that injury should not be attributed to dumping that is properly attributable to other causes, but the present report is essentially confined to the question of Community Interest, once the initial legal criteria for antidumping measures are satisfied.

Of course the various aspects of anti-dumping cannot be seen wholly in isolation from each other and we will make a few remarks on the inter-relationship.

# 2.2. The link between Dumping, Injury and Causation tests and Community Interest

To make a satisfactory measure of injury requires some apportionment of the blame for injury and a forward look at scope for redress.

Broadly speaking the first three criteria for anti-dumping action seem to involve gathering information about the effects of the dumping on the producer industry. The methods of doing that are set by legal rules and while economists may not like aspects of them it is beyond the brief of this study to suggest changes.

However it is clear that there are certain factors that from an economic point of view may arise in the application of the first three tests and may not always be considered, but that may be of importance in assessing the consequences of imposing measures, even though the information in question might not affect at all the initial tests.

The various tests are all linked. We have noted that from an economic point of view one could say that the potential for durable injury to the economy as a whole depends on how the dumping is being financed and, where relevant, the proportion of sales below cost or normal value, a factor that could be considered under Community Interest.

When we come to consider the effects of measures on the Community economy we need to ask whether the measures are capable of having the desired effect, in which case it is important to have some idea of how much of the problems of the industry are caused by, for example, non-dumped imports, bad management or internal excess capacity etc.

The injury caused by these other factors cannot be removed by anti-dumping measures. This would not be of concern if the dumping, injury and causation tests were all that mattered, but a Community Interest test seems to require some demonstration that imposing measures would in fact "restore effective competition" in the sense of making the EU industry competitive again, if the "trade distorting effects" of the dumping are removed.

The implication of this is that it would be desirable to carry on the efforts (as we understand were carried out implicitly the soda ash case<sup>12</sup>) to see what share of injury is due to domestic demand falling, what share is due to dumped imports and what due to

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  Definitive duty on Soda Ash from the USA, OJ L 244, 12.10.95

other imports. An X percent fall in sales can in principle be decomposed into these components.

## 3. DEVELOPING FURTHER THE IDEA OF THE COMMUNITY INTEREST TEST

Practitioners argue strongly that for dumping, causation and injury the rules as they currently are (as opposed to how they might be) offer little scope for judgmental use of economic criteria, though there may be more than is currently acknowledged.

However, the assessment of Community Interest cannot be anything but judgmental at two levels. There must be an empirical economic assessment of the likely consequences of different policy responses, including no action; then there has to be a balancing of the importance of the different effects that may be foreseen. Although the Commission is naturally reluctant to engage in "speculation" that may be over-ruled by the Court, it is hard to see how one can make an evaluation of the Community Interest without having to make some estimate of what the effect of imposing the measures proposed will be in the future as opposed to looking at the record of what has happened so far (as one does for dumping, injury and causation in the reference period).

Our understanding of the Community Interest test is as follows:

Assuming that dumping, injury and causation tests have been satisfied, the aim of the Community Interest appreciation is to act as a final check on whether applying measures would be in the overall Community interest. The impact of the dumping on the producer industry will have been examined in the injury analysis.

1) The Community Interest test should therefore investigate the consequences of applying anti-dumping measures on the rest of the economy.

2) In addition it could provide any additional information possible about the impact of the dumping or of anti-dumping measures on the injured industry other than the injury assessment that may have only looked at the complainants.

3) These factors including the original injury assessment should all be enumerated in commensurate terms *where possible*.

4) Once the list of impacts has been agreed the authorities must weigh up all the positive and negative consequences for both the complainants and the Community as a whole and decide whether it is in the overall Community interest to use measures.

#### 3.1. Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA)

Formal CBA which can produce a net benefit or cost type figure cannot easily be used prospectively for various reasons, most notably the problems of observing certain variables and the subjectivity of a number of the distributional judgements needed. This does not mean however that it might not be possible to usefully look at past cases in this way - if data were available. Empirical analysis clearly cannot deal with issues of fairness, but such work could at least distinguish between the elements behind a decision making a clear assessment easier. The first question is whether the formal techniques of cost benefit analysis (as used in retrospective studies by the US ITC (1995) and FTC (1984)) would be useful in the decision-making process.

The Grant Thornton Study (1992) concludes that it would be wholly inappropriate to suggest that the final decision in an anti-dumping case be based strictly on a conventional economic cost-benefit analysis of the kind undertaken by the US ITC (1995).

The CBA approach has the great virtue of giving a decision maker a single figure plus or minus to sum up the effects of a whole complex policy.

It does this by proceeding in a number of steps.

First, it requires the estimation of all the quantifiable impacts on prices, outputs, risk, jobs, environmental impact etc. These impacts are measured in whatever units they occur in (money, tons, etc.).

Second, for those outcomes that are not expressed in money units an effort is made to put monetary values on them, so they can be compared each to each other. This is normally by ingenious calculations of observations in the market place, for example how much people are prepared to pay to insure against the risk of a certain outcome, or through surveys of what financial value people declare they would be prepared to pay for certain things if there were markets (e.g. for environmental improvement). Benefits are assigned positive values (prices or weights); costs are assigned negative values.

Then, at a final stage, the pluses and minuses are all added up and a net benefit or cost is obtained. Using interest rates ("discount factors") benefits and costs that occur in the present are accorded more weight than those in the future.<sup>13</sup>

If CBA is used as a decision criterion the policy with the highest positive net value should be adopted among those considered. Economists would normally argue that policies with positive net benefits should be considered in the overall interest and those with negative sums are harmful. It has been strongly argued by economists that where there is a policy that produces net social benefits overall but would harm some particular deserving group, then the losers should be compensated in a way which would still leave the net benefit to society.

Economists tend to be divided over the rightness of adopting policies which bring more benefits than costs but where deserving losers are not compensated. The CBA analysis essentially excludes considerations of fairness, on the hand as between EU and non-EU producers, and on the other hand between producers and consumers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Clearly alternative assumptions can be used to test the robustness of the estimates·

#### 3.1.1. Problems of formal CBA

The CBA approach was used by the US ITC in its 1995 report, and the FTC (1984) report which shows that it is definitely feasible at least retrospectively as a tool of policy evaluation, although the methodology was contested by some of the Commissioners.

On the other hand, CBA has a number of problems and there are a number of reasons why such a precisely structured tool may not appeal to the Commission for prospective decision-making purposes. At the heart of the difficulty with CBA is that it requires a quantification a) of variables that are in principle factual but are very hard to observe and b) of social valuations (e.g. how much is security of supply worth).

In more detail:

Economic cost benefit analysis is heavily dependent on a number of parameters that are often unobservable (for example demand elasticities) and whose values may critically determine the final outcome. The quantification exercise is thus made up of a number of components each of which must be examined separately for possible errors. This does not make the approach useless, but it means that a single bottom line is not helpful without the separate elements of the calculation. CBA is deliberately intended to reduce all effects to a common yardstick so that they can be added and a net total obtained. Critics may object that the costs and benefits may not be commensurate: a trade-off between certainty of supply and lower prices may not be capable of expression as conversion into ECU-equivalents. Micro-economic cost benefit analysis normally makes a number of specific assumptions about market processes. In particular cost benefit analysis is predicated on the assumption that employment in any activity is a cost not a benefit. This is based on the assumption that workers released from one activity can be usefully employed elsewhere: this is entirely valid and correct when they actually do have this possibility. But modification to allow for the use of "shadow prices" is needed if this is not so and this makes the system very complex.

Standard cost benefit analysis is not designed to capture issues of fairness as perceived in DG I: in general one ECU of income to consumers is worth the same as to producers.

## **3.1.2.** Possible application of CBA ?

Having said this, it would be extremely useful if the Commission were able to undertake studies of past cases, using methodologies similar to that of the ITC (1995), but using assumptions e.g. on tariff revenues more representative of EU experience. (It must be borne in mind that the ITC study credits 50 authors who appear to have worked for 2 years! Any replication of this work is way beyond the scope of our own study).

It would also be valuable for the Commission to undertake some work on current cases, alongside the formal decision-making process. Formal cost benefit analysis of this sort could not determine cases but the parallel exploration of formal methods would be a useful discipline on thinking and would alert investigators to the questions that appeared to be most important

This approach should therefore not be dismissed entirely but be seen as a background aid.

## **3.1.3.** Alternatives to formal CBA

More operationally it seems highly desirable that the Commission should develop a set of questions that it should seek and if possible be seen to have sought to answer.

No amount of empirical investigation could possibly answer the question of what is fair. However the purpose of economic analysis should be to separate out the elements of a decision that are based on fairness and those which are based on economic calculation. It is, for example, perfectly proper to argue that a certain Community industry does not deserve to be driven out of business by foreign firms engaged in capricious distortionary behaviour not open to our firms. It is not helpful to argue that it is in every such case in the direct economic interest of users to preserve local supply. This may be so, but a case genuinely based on fairness should be able to stand up even if consumers lose out. This however raises the question of whether there would be other less costly methods of redressing any unfair injury, a point to which we will return below.

We must be careful to distinguish between Cost-Benefit-Analysis as codified in manuals on the subject which is probably not applicable as a tool for decision-making, though it could and probably should be used as a monitoring and evaluation device ex post, and the more general principle that there should be a systematic enumeration of the costs and the benefits estimated to the best degree possible so that decision-makers can precisely see how recommendations have been arrived at and make a final decision in an informed manner.

Our suggestion is therefore that at some stage in the proceedings the calculation of Community Interest should be carried out by enumerating all of the potential consequences of the dumping and any measures. As far as possible there should be a separation of what the likely consequences will be and the next step in the process which is the appreciation of their worth.

## 3.2. What should go into the Community Interest analysis?

There should be an appraisal of the impact of measures on the rest of the economy (given that the domestic producers received much attention in the injury analysis) in the light of certain questions covering potential reactions to the measures.

It is clear that the injury analysis will generate a very large amount of data on the impact of the dumping on the producing industry. It follows therefore that the Community Interest test should focus very much on the impact of the dumping and the proposed measures on the rest of the economy. There is of course room for further analysis of the industry in question insofar as one can properly ask whether the measures in question will in fact have the desired effect of redressing the injury.

The basic questions one needs to address are :

How will the foreign exporters react to any proposed measures in terms of their prices and sales quantities?

How will the affected industry react to any measures and the reactions by exporter to such measures?

What will the be effect of these responses on purchasers in the short term and in the longer term.

Are there any spillover effects from the effects on producer or user firms to the rest of the economy?

Some of these factors may have been evaluated in the context of the injury assessment, but it should be borne in mind that it does not automatically follow that the consequences for the injured industry will be a reversal of the injury observed. In principle only that part of the injury caused by the dumping can be reversed and this only if there have been no irreversible losses so far. A proper evaluation of the community interest impact on the producers of imposing measures would therefore not simply be a mirror image of the injury assessment. As noted above, it could include an attempt to turn estimates of the loss of jobs into some social cost figure.

## **3.2.1.** Costs to users

Recent decisions suggest that the Commission's reasoning in its consideration of the cost of measures has developed very positively. These costs should always be estimated as sums of money

It is instructive to read anti-dumping decisions over the years in order to trace the evolution of thinking. It is clear that the Commission's reasoning has developed over the years in a much more positive direction. Some early decisions merely assert without any justification that the survival of a viable community industry is in the interests of users and consumers.

Some decisions have gone on to say that even if the price rises caused by anti-dumping measures imposed significant costs on users this was of no consequence because they were themselves able to pass the costs on the final consumers who did not matter.

A few recent decisions have gone much further than this and have really tried to undertake serious estimates of the cost of the measures. It seems highly desirable that this approach used notably in the soda ash and PPC cases should be made more precise and used in every case.<sup>14</sup> But there is tendency to minimise the importance of impacts on final consumers.

Economists argue that the cost of living, which determines consumer purchasing power, should be a prime concern of public policy and moreover the cost of living is a general factor in determining the competitiveness of European industry across the board.<sup>15</sup>

## 3.2.2. Price effects

Some estimates should be made of possible scenarios in which prices may rise (or even fall) as a result of the measures and which players gain or lose from these. If it is expected that domestic prices will not rise, it should be indicated how EU firms can gain from measures. Economic analysis in the past has tended to assume that prices will go up by the whole of the duty but empirical evidence suggests that this does not necessarily occur. Some kind of forecast is needed.

It is clearly necessary to distinguish price rises due to:

a) Duties being paid and putting up the user price to which revenues collected are an offsetting counterpart.

b) Price rises implemented by the exporters designed to avoid paying duties (either as part of an undertaking, to avoid duties or to reclaim duties). These are a net cost to the EU economy and transfer profit to foreign producers.

c) Price rises inside the EU by EU producers raising their prices to restore margins to remove the injury. This represents a transfer from EU users to producers.

Against this must obviously be set reductions in price that are brought about by producers who are resigned to paying the duty and who wish to minimise the impact on their sales. This is the terms of trade gain that is made possible by the EU retrospective duty system as opposed to the US system, though anti-absorption measures could discourage this.

These income transfers can be quite straightforwardly calculated with respect to a fixed volume of sales. Economists would wish to see added in to the calculation some assessment of the possible impact of any price increases on the total volume of sales of the product in question. If users or consumers are led to alter their purchase pattern as a result of duty imposition this will result in what is known as a loss of consumer surplus.

All of the above discussion pre-supposes that the authorities can estimate the extent to which prices will go up as a result of anti-dumping measures. This is of course not

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  Both cases Definitive Duty OJ L 244/1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Small percentage cost increases cases experienced by large numbers of buyers can add up to a big total.

straightforward. It is clearly related to the calculation of an injury margin: by how much would prices have to go up in order to remove the injury? The calculation does not itself tell us what price increases there will be, but much of the raw material for the injury calculation would be very helpful in the cost calculation. The Commission's practice has changed markedly in recent decisions and it would seem that what is needed is not a revolution in approaches but an expansion of the techniques used in the PPC review and the Soda Ash case where a real attempt was made to look at costs.<sup>16</sup>

It is very clear that there is an inadequacy in both conventional economic analysis and in the way the price consequences of anti-dumping have been treated in the past. In many economic studies it is simply assumed that prices of imports rise by the full amount of the anti-dumping duty and that domestic producers match this; this is of course quite possible, but it is less likely in imperfect than perfect markets, and there is evidence that foreign producers have reduced their own prices to absorb duty and that the knock-on effect in the EU market has been reduced. On the other hand, many anti-dumping decisions simply assert that import prices will not rise by the full amount of the duty and that redress will occur solely through market share adjustments and increases in profit margins without any rise in domestic producer prices. It is on this point that the greatest controversy has arisen between the Commission and its critics, i.e. economists - both in academia and elsewhere. Economic analysis and empirical experience suggest reasons why the price of close substitute products should both rise or fall together and it would be helpful in cases where the Commission services could indicate where they have reason to believe that this would not be so, e.g. when items are highly differentiated.

It is therefore highly desirable to carry out more systematic analysis.

There is clearly scope for dispute and speculation in such a forward looking exercise. But a number of questions can be reasonably asked.

Clearly where there have been measures in the past an analysis can be conducted of price movements at the time of previous measures. But is also possible to undertake simple forward looking calculations by asking the questions:

a) is there any evidence that buyers would switch away from imported to domestic goods if there are no substantial price rises?

b) is it possible for the EU industry to eliminate the injury without itself raising prices?

The calculation of an "underselling" margin requires some analysis of the potential responses by EU suppliers. But by itself it does not claim to predict how prices will actually move.

Ideally one would wish that the Commission be asked to estimate how much the prices of the imports product in question will go up (otherwise how can it estimate what duty is needed to offset the injury) and then to simply estimate the direct cost of the measure as a sum of money. It would then be reasonable to expect DG I to state, as it did in CTVs, what the likely impact would be on internal prices and why (even if the answer is merely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Both PPC and Soda Ash cases OJ L 244, 12.10.95.

that the industry says this).<sup>17</sup> The very simplest of calculations of total cost could be made and the Commission and the Member States could judge if such a transfer was sensible in the light of other costs and benefits.

There is no doubt that making estimates of prospective price increases is highly speculative. Nevertheless some simple rules suggest themselves. We can estimate an upper bound for the cost increase by looking at the case where all of the duty is passed on by the exporters to the buyers and where in order to remove the underselling margin and restore their target price the EU producers raise their prices by the same amount.

This will not happen in all cases and it must be remembered that the costs created will generate revenue for the Community in the case of duties (though not in the case of undertakings).<sup>18</sup> The price increase is applied to the total volume of sales to give a total cost figure.

It seems reasonable to estimate this figure even where it is thought unlikely to be realised. At the other side a lower bound figure should be calculated. Obviously the ideal outcome is where the exporters absorb the entire cost of the duties but as a result of their loss of profitability they withdraw substantially from the market and the EU industry takes up the slack and restores profitability by getting extra sales.

On the other hand it would seem reasonable to spell out the implications of a middle scenario. Here it might be assumed that

a) exporters absorb for instance 1/3 or 2/3rds of the duty

b) domestic producers are asked how much they would put up prices on assumed duties and reactions of exporters.

This would again generate a cost increase for EU users which could be expressed as a sum of money.

It would seem reasonable if the producers argue that they would not have to put prices up to benefit from the anti-dumping measures to ask them to supply scenario projections which would illustrate how they could restore their profitability from volume changes only.

It would be difficult to make a firm estimate of this effect in advance, and scenario analysis seems called for. However recent work in the UK has attempted to use sophisticated statistical techniques to look for breaks in price trends for past anti-dumping cases.<sup>19</sup>

3.2.2.1. Tariff revenues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CTVs from Malaysia, China, Korea, Singapore and Thailand; Provisional Measures OJ L 255, 1.10.94, Definitive Measures OJ L 73, 1.4.95

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> But we should note that the revenues collected will not be received by the users.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> D. Greenaway et al Anti-dumping Policy and NTBs, unpublished 1995.

### In considering reviews, we should look at how much of duty has been absorbed and what the total amount of the revenue collected is.

Where reviews are taking place it would seem imperative that the total amount of the revenue collected should be considered together with some attempt to assess, by looking at the past data, how much of the duty has been absorbed. The Commission has methods for asking that latter question. Of course it should be remembered that duty collected is both a cost for those who pay it and a source of revenue for the Community. For undertakings, no revenue is collected, and if they have been binding, revenue is in fact transferred abroad.

Both of these figures should be looked at. In other areas of decision-making it is less common to hear the argument that taxes have no disadvantageous effects because they are translated elsewhere into useful expenditures.

On the one hand, where undertakings have been used there is no revenue generated and what is needed is a time series analysis comparing actual prices, including the undertaking, with the best estimate of "free market" prices. This is always difficult to do because "rest of the world" prices are themselves influenced by the existence of undertakings. If the EU or US imposes minimum prices then less will be sold there and more will be diverted to the "free market" where prices will be artificially depressed. Nevertheless, a comparison of actual prices, undertaking prices and free market prices should be the starting point. It is our impression that in the semi-conductor case for example this data exists within the Commission but it has not yet been put together. In fact the information we have been able to gather suggests that actual market prices in the EU for Japanese DRAMs were above the undertaking levels for all but about 6 months when the undertaking seems to have put prices up by about 5-6%.<sup>20</sup> We were not able to obtain precise data but it seems quite possible that if the exercise were carried out it would show a rather low cost increase figure.

On the other hand in the case of some other products undertakings have been given that probably pushed prices up quite significantly, transferring revenue to foreign producers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> DRAMs from Japan : Undertakings OJ L 20/1990, Definitive Duties OJ L 193/1990.

#### 3.2.2.2. Terms of trade and tariffs

If foreigners absorb the duty tariff revenues are collected at their expense and our terms of trade improve.

The terms of trade for economists essentially refers to the relative prices of imports and exports. A region's terms of trade are said to improve if its exports command higher prices, or if its imports become cheaper. There are many ways to measure the concept. In simple terms however, the terms of trade impact of changes in the markets for our imports reflects in effect how much less we have to export in order to buy a given amount of imports if their prices fall.

In order to know the impact of measures on the terms of trade we do need to analyse market structures. If we can correctly estimate the extent to which foreign firms will absorb duties we can estimate the gain to the economy as a whole from doing this.

To know the effect of trade policy measures on the terms of trade we need to know the same information as we need to assess the cost increases. This involves estimating elasticities of demand and supply and the extent of entry into the world market: is there a going world market price? If so the sellers will not cut their price to us just because we impose a tariff.

One of the factors that should be built into the estimates of the consequences of antidumping calculations is the impact on EU revenue. Care must be taken to avoid doublecounting here. Clearly if prices for imported goods go up as a result of the foreign supplier passing on the cost of the duties, that is at the same time an increase in costs to the purchasers but an increase in income for the Community which is available for spending and is an offsetting factor in the list of impacts. To the extent that foreign sellers however absorb the duties and do not raise prices, then the revenue is a tax paid for by foreigners and received by the EU from them. On the other hand it must be remembered that this effect is the same as the "terms of trade effect" referred to above. It represents an increase in the real income of the EU caused by lower import prices but one that is captured by the EU budget not individuals.

## **3.2.3.** Consumer surplus

#### This is theoretically very important but not possible to measure directly.

All the estimations and calculations we have discussed so far rely on there being some application of industrial economics to estimate how much prices would go up in any given market given the structure. Economic theory however suggests that an additional cost should be taken into account and this was used by the ITC (1995) and FTC (1984) studies referred to above. This is the so-called loss of consumer surplus. It is occasioned by the fact that the existence of the duties cause demand patterns to shift away from what they would otherwise be. It is based on the pure theory of supply and demand.

That is to say, in addition to the higher price paid for what would be bought anyway, the consumers lose as a result of their switch in demand away from the product whose price has risen. Supply and demand theory identifies the utility of a commodity with consumers' willingness to pay for it. Consumers will value additional units of the commodity at the price they have been willing to pay for what they did buy. So where the market price is kept above the cost of supplying additional units, there is a loss of consumer welfare. If after duties the post tariff price is greater than the import price foreigners are actually charging us, economic theory suggests that the value of the good to the consumer is greater than the economy's cost of acquiring it (the amount of foreign currency we have to earn to import another unit). Consumer satisfaction would be increased if domestic market price were closer to the import cost (i.e. how much we have to export - not the foreign cost of production).

In addition the fact that the domestic price is liable to cause rises in home production is considered a cost in terms of economic efficiency where purchases from abroad would have been cheaper.

This model is traditionally used by economists and is described for example in fig. 5-1 on p. 5-12 of the US ITC Report (1995).

This approach has been used by the UK National Consumer Council (1990) in its analyses of anti-dumping policy and has an important part to play in any retrospective evaluation of the effects of past policy, but it requires knowledge of demand and supply elasticities and would be hard to apply in the decision making process. It is also technically difficult where the assumptions of a perfectly competitive market are not satisfied.

## **3.2.4.** Employment effects and the value of jobs

The costs and benefits of jobs depend critically on what we assume would happen otherwise: would workers be re-deployed? Do trade measures assist adjustment?

Employment effects are not easy to incorporate in standard cost-benefit analysis of trade policy.

This is largely because traditional trade theory is based on the assumption that workers released from one job can normally find jobs elsewhere that are at least socially productive.

Most outside studies of anti-dumping measures are reluctant to accept that the imposition of anti-dumping measures can improve efficiency of the firms benefiting from them. The assumption of the anti-dumping regulation however is that the firms subject to dumping risk being driven out of business by unfair competition and that they are in principle viable and will recover if allowed to survive. The implicit assumption is that if the firms suffering from the dumping are allowed to shut down, re-entry will be strongly deterred by the risk of later disturbance, but that if firms are allowed to survive the jobs saved will end up being socially valuable.

#### 3.2.4.1. Cost per job

Estimates typically are several times the value added of the worker. This is because trade models assume all prices go up, not just those of factories kept open.

The normal approach of economists is to estimate the cost per job saved. They tend to be high, as the models tend to assume that duties raise the price of all imports and of all home produced goods by the amount of the tariff, but the direct benefit is only felt by the producers, some of whom may well be viable anyway.

Economic models stress that job losses should be treated as adjustment costs rather than permanent costs. They argue that if the market mechanism is allowed to work, workers will eventually be re-absorbed into the system. One influential US study by Tarr and Mokre for the Federal Trade Commission (1984) did attempt to use the concept of adjustment costs. They sought to calculate the number of jobs saved by import protection and estimated the reduction in sales that would be caused by removal of textile protection. They noted that this was not a figure that could be directly observed: it would depend on how prices changed and how consumers responded to these price changes. Then using average productivity figures they calculated the number of jobs this corresponded to. In addition they estimated the loss of jobs in upstream industries using input-output tables. These were estimated to be about half the direct costs.

They then used unpublished data to estimate the average duration of unemployment for workers in the textile and clothing industry. It was assumed that workers losing their jobs would be re-employed after experiencing a wait of this average.

Their study assumed that the loss to the workforce was equal to the loss of pay (estimated at average wages). The study did not take account of social transfer payments, presumably on the grounds that social security benefits are at the same time a loss to tax payers but a benefit to recipients.

This method showed large margins of error, mainly due to the difficulty of knowing how much output would be changed by the removal of protection. The authors set the gains from jobs saved (jobs lost multiplied by average earnings per month lost multiplied by

months spent out of work) against the benefits to the rest of the economy from the price falls that were estimated to result from the cut in protection.

The benefits from the price reductions were essentially estimated by taking the volume of sales in the industry and multiplying by the price cut, adding in a number of second order effects. The authors concluded from this that, although each consumer would gain a very small amount, there would be a very large number of gainers and the cost savings would be permanent so the total impact on the economy of price cuts would be such that the benefits from job savings would be much less than the savings to consumers, benefits from removing protection being between 7 and more than 20 times the costs of adjustment.

The US FTC authors estimated that the results might be sensitive to whether or not unemployment lasted for ever, the results do not change all that much with alternative estimates of temporary unemployment in the US context.<sup>21</sup> But they are clearly very sensitive to the price effects assumed and the very high figures for benefits if tariff removal occurs depends on the assumption that price cuts are permanent but job losses are temporary. Clearly the cost figure comes down a lot if prices of domestic goods do not go up and if the measures are strictly temporary.

Free trade economists would always wish to argue that the efficiency gains from trade liberalisation will lead to the creation of other jobs elsewhere in the system, though these cannot be identified. Of course these further gains will only be forthcoming if it is true that the industries that shut down are indeed inefficient.

#### 3.2.4.2. Benefits per job

Jobs saved are worth less if the workers can find other employment. Another yardstick is how much is typically spent on job creation programmes. On this basis an average job could be said to be "worth" somewhere around 10,000 ecus per year.

Such estimates of the cost of job creation are one way to look at the benefits in the sense of the willingness of the authorities to pay. But this does not measure the value to the people concerned.

Trade economists have made some efforts to assess the benefits of unemployment stopped by trade policy measures. One's conclusion depends critically whether one assumes that workers will soon be re-employed in better jobs or remain for long periods unemployed or in worse jobs.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> That is to say in the US labour market if people are re-hired this is usually within months rather than decades.

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$  It is worth noting that traditional trade theory does suggest that workers should get better jobs if they move to industries that are competitive.

The method used by the US FTC in their 1984 study would seem to be capable of use in actual cases. It says that the cost of unemployment in cash terms should be treated as the loss of earnings of the unemployed workers during the time they would remain unemployed.

If complainants can realistically state how many jobs have been lost or would be lost, the Commission can use data on average duration of unemployment and earnings to estimate the cost to those losing their jobs of the adjustment burden that they bear. This cost is of limited duration if workers do get other jobs. It is important to note that if we are looking at the effects of measures on the economy we are not interested in the total injury suffered by the complainant industry but in that part which is caused by the dumped imports and which could be redressed by action.

It is of course assumed by the economic model used here that workers who eventually get jobs in the rest of the economy get the same wage as beforehand. If this is not so one could add to the losses of the workers the wage cut they suffer. It must be noted however that such a cut is *a saving* for the rest of the economy.

The same unemployment duration data would allow an estimate of the budgetary cost by multiplying average benefits by payout rates. It must be stressed, however, that one should not add the cash costs to the loss of income figure: the state payments reduce the financial burden to individuals. One can either look at the cost to the state or the cost to individuals.

It is arguable that the social dislocation costs to workers displaced is actually greater than the financial cost they bear. This is very hard to measure, but it must be remembered that it cannot be assumed that all jobs affected by the measures will be lost and the workers unemployed for ever.

Another way to make sense of the cost per job figures is to ask what is a reasonable figure for the public authorities to spend for job creation measures. Estimates of the capital investment required to create a job do not seem entirely appropriate as the investment outlay is expected to be returned. It is that part of the capital outlay that the commercial investor does not expect to recoup that may be set against the costs to the rest of society of trade policy measures.

The Commission has set ceilings for state aids for job creation. These appear to be applied in a somewhat flexible manner. Marchipont (1994) cites the official DG IV ceilings for state aids under the regulations governing regional aids. Various types of region are identified. In the regions most eligible for aid the ceiling for aid per person is 13,000 ECU's per job created. On the other hand there exist a series of sectoral regimes. Marchipont cites data from the Kiel Institute which indicate that "around 1990" state aids for job creation in new plants in the car industry were much higher. In the table Marchipont quotes from the Kiel study the state aids actually observed (and evidently approved) ranged from 16,500 ECU's per job created in France to 517,000 ECU's for a

case in Italy (672M ECU's to create 1,300 jobs). All other examples in the study were between 30,000 and 162,000 ECU's per job (1990 prices).

Such once and for all figures can be compared with annual flows of costs due to job creation by trade measures using interest rates. If government borrowing costs 5% a setup subsidy of 100,000 ECU's is equivalent to a subsidy of 5,000 ECU's per year for ever, which is a cost to rest of the economy and, as with any policy that pushes up prices or taxes, this can affect the rest of the economy.

The recent evaluations of the structural funds have also generated some data which could be used as yardsticks for comparisons. The UK 1991 Evaluation Report for Objectives 3 and 4 in the United Kingdom looks at expenditure per programme recipient who obtained a job, and then by using comparative data from surveys, tries to allow for the fact that some people would have got jobs anyway and some of the jobs created displace other workers. They use research from previous studies to estimate job displacement. Assuming that only 25% of the jobs apparently created really are new their figure (apparently at 1991 prices) is of £10,500 per job per year for wage subsidies to the long term unemployed. The 1992 evaluation report, giving less detail for the basis of the calculation, estimates the cost per job in 1991 for all UK Objective 3 programmes as £9,500, but only £6,700 in 1992. If we apply the 5% borrowing rate to these we come up with a capital sum of about £200,000. This is not so far from the order of magnitude of costs per job in the car industry, but the state aid figures almost certainly are gross rather than net job creation.

### **3.2.5.** Effects on the rest of the economy

Whilst the cost of measures to user industries and consumers tend to be relatively small to each individual user/consumer this does not mean that they should be ignored. The total cost incurred across the board is also important and should be looked at in conjunction with the potential benefits to producers. Any small price rise that affects the EU cost of living can affect overall economic competitiveness if wage rises follow, meaning that jobs may be lost elsewhere.

The Commission increasingly often estimates the cost of measures to user industries, but typically it finds that the cost increase to the user industry is a small fraction of the value of its sales, (whereas inevitably the injury to the up stream producers is a higher proportion of their output). The impact of price rises on consumers is correspondingly smaller still per household. It does not follow however that these figures should be neglected. It is most desirable that any cost increases to industry is being obliged to bear. Decision makers may wish to set this against the total value of the sales of the industry against its profits or some other factor, but it is inappropriate to start off merely with a percentage figure. If we are "saving" an industry we need to know how much the rest of the economy is paying. It would be unhelpful for the analysis of subsidies to

know only the scale of the subsidy as a percentage of sales. One wishes to know what the total amount involved is.

Similar considerations apply in the case of final consumers. Economists would not agree that price rises affecting only final consumers should be ignored. Where very many buyers are involved this may involve very large total costs. It is also the case that antidumping duties, falling typically as they do on low price imports affect most those households that rely on cheap imports. This is especially true of trade restrictions on clothing and shoes. It is entirely within the sphere of political decision making for these costs to be regarded as less important than the benefits to producers (who may be deemed more deserving) but it would be inappropriate from an economic point of view to wholly ignore the costs of final consumers.

It is also necessary to remember that the cost of living is a major determinant of wage bargaining which is itself a major factor in the competitiveness of the economy. The orders of magnitude can be illustrated by the following back of the envelope estimate. The US International Trade Commission made an estimate that the total cost in terms of economic welfare of US anti-dumping measures was of the order of 0.03% of GNP. Expressed as a total cost it becomes \$1.59 bn. Suppose this figure is correct.

The simplest way to consider this is to see that a cost of 0.03% of GNP can be interpreted as a rise in the overall price level of 0.03%. Many studies have indicated that wage claims depend on the rate of price inflation. As a very crude first approximation let us suppose that a 1% rise in prices is followed by a 1% rise in wages. For those firms that are benefiting from the imposition of duties this is not a problem, but for the rest of the economy this is a pure 1% cost increase which will reduce the demand for labour by a very small amount but across a large number of firms.

Recent statistical (econometric) studies have suggested that a 1% rise in wage costs is likely to reduce the demand for labour by about 0.2% This implies that a 0.03% rise in costs would reduce employment in those parts of the economy that do not benefit from the measures by (0.2\*0.03%). This is about 0.006%, which is a tiny fraction, but in absolute terms not entirely negligible. If the US labour force is of the order of magnitude of 130 million we can get an idea of the possible effects of a tiny loss of competitiveness spread across a very big field by taking 0.006% of 130 millions. This gives us about 8,000 as a very rough estimate of the number of jobs that could have been lost as a result of wage increases to compensate the price increases caused by US anti-dumping actions. Of course from an employment point of view this would have to be set against the number of jobs saved. But the analysis of the FTC would remind us that the cost of the loss of competitiveness lasts as long as the measures, while the positive effects of job creation is only for as long as the workers whose jobs are saved would have stayed out of a job if they had been made unemployed.

It therefore makes sense to estimate as well as can be done the possible impact of trade measures on prices and costs for all users and consumers.

#### **3.2.6.** Market Structures

Information on the structure of the global markets is important in determining what the Community Interest really is, for example in analysing how significant the danger of strategic dependency may be. The nature of the injury done to our economy will depend on the circumstances of the dumping. Simple indicators of the degree of closure of the exporter's market and the freedom of entry into the industry can help indicate the risk we face. A number of questions which could be asked about home and foreign markets would provide much of the relevant information which, although by definition somewhat subjective, could be used alongside more quantifiable evidence.

Any attempt to calculate the effects of measures on prices in both short and long term requires an understanding of the relevant market structure.

Any analysis of the effects of measures on users must take into account the medium and long term effects on users and consumers. It is quite correct to argue that if the nonimposition of measures exposes the EU to the risk of strategic dependency on a small group of suppliers we risk facing higher costs in the future, but whether or not this argument actually applies in any one case depends on the market structure of the industry in question and it is at this point that it would be natural for any information that is actually available to be taken into account.

The difficulty in the present system comes however when we believe that the immediate effect of anti-dumping measures would have to be to raise prices substantially to users in order to eliminate the effects of the dumping and the preserve the industry. It is here the market structure analysis would be appropriate from the point of view of finding out what is actually in the Community interest.

Industry representatives argue strongly that it would be a quite unreasonable burden to place on them and on the Commission if there were an additional criterion of "true market closure" with onus of proof as a condition for imposing anti-dumping duties. There is however already a requirement that the Commission should undertake the Community Interest test and our analysis leads to the conclusion that the general Community Interest does differ markedly according to the nature of the world and EU market structure and that this should be taken into account in balancing identifiable interests of users and producers

A major declared aim of anti-dumping action (Art. 21) is to restore effective competition. We have argued that whether or not anti-dumping is the right means to achieve this depends very much on what the cause of the dumping was in the first place. At one extreme, if there is the beginnings of predatory dumping, we can indeed stop a monopoly developing (which is of course good for us unless monopoly is so ultra-efficient that it allows prices to be cut even with the extra margins). At the other extreme is the case where dumping is part of a tactic to enforce a cartel system or other implicit collusion. Where an industry has had these features in the past anti-dumping may make them worse.

There is a good case for drawing on published and even specially commissioned economic research about the structure of the world market case by case as well as seeking to build up in-house sectoral expertise in industries known to be concerned .

The outcome of such an analysis should not be treated in the same way as an estimate of the number of jobs at risk in the industry since it would be based on very subjective information and judgements. On the other hand it could be used to influence the way in which more objectively quantifiable factors are balanced.

Thus where it can be shown that there are a very large number of suppliers in the world market capable of entering the market if there were signs of dependency on the dumping exporter, this would be a factor strengthening the side of user industries. After all, their competitors in the rest of the world would have access to such competitive supplies. On the other hand where entry or re-entry is judged very difficult this supports the case for saying that the long term interests of the users need positive action to preserve sources of supply.

It is surely desirable that if any information is available, the intensity of competition in both world and EU markets should be considered.

It would seem highly desirable that as part of anti-dumping investigations, the following issues should be systematically investigated.

- What are the trends in imports into the dumping country's market from the EU and elsewhere?
- If imports are negligible, is this a sign that their competitiveness is unassailable *or* that there is some barrier to trade?
- What are the tariff rates and declared NTBs into that market?
- What evidence is there on how the dumping is being financed and how "deep" the purse is?
- Is there any published evidence or complaint on record of anti-competitive practices within the industry?
- Are the exporters multi-product firms who have access to other markets which may be closed?
- Is there a captive market for the dumped product e.g. for in house use that is likely to be less price sensitive than the open market?
- What evidence is there on concentration in the exporter, importer and world markets? And even more importantly, is there evidence that new producers not linked to dominant players have ever been able to, or could in the future, easily enter this market?

Where there are a very small number of producers in the EU or where there has been evidence of concertation among a larger number it is desirable that this issue be systematically considered as part of the community interest investigation. There have been cases in which importers offer evidence that EU producers have been using antidumping action to sustain anti-competitive positions within the EU. Until now the Commission has been reluctant to take this up if there had been no competition case here, but it would seem reasonable to ask for a consideration of whether this was a possible risk.

## **3.2.7.** The effects on our exports

Anti-dumping measures may affect the competitiveness of EU firms. In addition they may affect other countries' import situations.

An overall appreciation of Community Interest should also take account of any repercussions on EU exports.

From the point of view of the EU's export potential the impact will depend on the relative magnitude of any positive effect on the supported industry vs. the potential for loss of competitiveness due to the costs of achieving such an aim.

If it can be shown that the use or threat of anti-dumping instruments will actually open other countries' markets and allow the removal of the factors that permitted the segmentation in the first place that would strengthen the case for measures. But if it can be shown that the exporter is so dependent on our market and would be obliged to or likely to curtail imports from us, that would be an argument on the other side. From the evidence we have, it would only appear to be with the US that the EU is on both sides of the anti-dumping instrument.

## **3.2.8.** The Injury analysis and the Community Interest

Community Interest depends on whether taking measures will actually reverse any damage done in the past, even though it may have been established that the injury did occur.

As we noted above, an analysis designed to see whether the complainant industry has suffered injury during the reference period is not quite the same as an analysis of what the impact on the complainants would be of introducing measures, or of how this can be set against the costs of the measures. Nor, as emerged in the PPC case,<sup>23</sup> does analysis of the injury to complainants necessarily take account of all the producer side effects of measures on upstream and associated activities that have not complained but whose interests need to be taken into account.

## 3.2.9. Industrial issues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Definitive Duty OJ L 244/1995

The Community interest in many cases rests on arguments about the strategic need to retain a particular industry in the EU for example for technological reasons. Whilst anti-dumping decisions are not explicitly based on industrial policy criteria (and whether they should be is not within the scope of this report), in practice, making decisions on particular spillover effects of an industrial nature are unavoidable. Decisions should be based on an appreciation of the relative importance of the industry in question compared to others in the light of identifiable spillover effects etc.

It is really not for the present report to offer an opinion whether it is correct to include industrial policy criteria in the Community Interest decisions. Many officials have said that this is not intended and if this is indeed Community policy the Community Interest analysis should exclude such considerations.

On the other hand many published decisions (e.g. PPCs,<sup>24</sup> CTVs,<sup>25</sup> DRAMs<sup>26</sup>) do make a case on these grounds. One may assume that the injury analysis takes account of the impact of the dumping and by implication its elimination on the producing industry and a direct cost analysis on users. In anti-dumping decisions however it is sometimes argued that the disappearance of a certain industry would cause injury to parts of the EU economy not directly involved in the complaint; for example it has been suggested that injury to EU CTV producers will have a negative impact on the suppliers of TV tubes (which may go beyond the simple loss of sales) and that the anti-dumping measures in PPCs attracted Japanese investment which stimulated an EU components industry. In the case of the CTV industry it may be that a direct inclusion of the negative impact on upstream demand could have been included in injury analysis (as the FTC study does in trying to estimate the effects of increased import competition in clothing). But with the PPC industry it is clear that what is claimed goes well beyond the traditional indirect effects: the effect considered here has nothing to do with injury from dumping per se. If the argument in question is valid it would apply equally even if there were no dumping at all.

These are arguments that one must suggest should be treated with great care in a systematic evaluation of Community Interest. If there are likely to be spillover effects not adequately taken into account in market relationships it seems desirable that, at least in internal deliberations, they should be made explicit.

We need to ask why if the presence of the industry in question generates readily identifiable spillovers, these cannot be dealt with by market forces. For example in the case of soda ash<sup>27</sup> it is clear that the glass industry would suffer if as a result of a short period of intense competition the EU industry were to disappear leaving them dependent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Definitive Duty OJ L 244/1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Small-Screen Colour Televisions Definitive Duties OJ L 107, 25.4.1990; Colour Televisions Definitive Duties OJ L 73, 1.4.1995

 $<sup>^{26}</sup>$  DRAMs from Japan : Definitive Duties OJ L 193/1990. DRAMs from Korea : Definitive Duties OJ L 66/1993

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Definitive Duty OJ L 244, 12.10.95

on US supplies. But if it is obvious to policy-makers it is also obvious to users. It is well known in many industries that users deliberately arrange for "second-sourcing", for which they may be prepared to pay a small premium in order to avoid dependency. This deliberate action by buyers can bring new producers into an industry. Where the user industry is small and fragmented however it is easy to see how it may be possible that no individual buyer or user may be willing to pay extra for something that will benefit others more than it benefits him.

On the other hand in an industry like the glass industry which is highly concentrated a case has to be made explicitly why its producers should fail to take this into account. A possible explanation could be that the downstream industry is itself, monopolistic and can pass on price increases due to possible shortages to its consumers.

Anti-dumping officials have repeatedly stated that there should be no attempt to bias antidumping actions to favour some industries over others. It is not at all desirable that antidumping policy should prioritise sectors in advance of investigations; at the same time we know that the spillover effects etc. are not ignored in practice. It can only be suggested that either a deliberate decision should be taken to exclude such considerations or they should be made more coherent.

A set of questions could be devised that would allow industries which have positive spillovers to be identified (of course care must also be taken to enquire if industries faced with cost increases due to possible anti-dumping action have spillover effects.) Such criteria are clearly relevant alongside such questions as, for example, whether the loss of jobs caused by the injury is in a particularly sensitive region.

#### **3.2.10.** Direct Foreign Investment (DFI)

Looking at the data the one impact of anti-dumping measures that stands out beyond dispute is that in assembly industries it has attracted very significant amounts of inward investment. This probably has benefited the EU economy as a whole, especially via technology transfer, though not necessarily complainants.

An examination of industrial data from past cases serves very much to indicate the difficulty of knowing what would have happened in an alternative scenario. There is one consequence of anti-dumping action that does appear to be very firmly established however: namely that, above all in cases involving electronics imports from Asia, the use of anti-dumping measures attracts inward investment from the countries found to be dumping. The evidence is very strong. Though sceptics argue that there is a mere coincidence of timing due to a general tendency towards globalisation of business in the 1980s, such a view does not fit well with evidence which compares cases where there have been measures and those where there have not. Comparing the US and the EU it is apparent that where both use commercial policy instruments, both get Japanese DFI but

where only one does DFI goes to the market where measures are taken. The principal beneficiary of this appears to have been the UK.<sup>28</sup>

There is no doubt that in any ex post balance sheet of the impact of anti-dumping the DFI factor must be judged positive.<sup>29</sup> Recent anti-dumping decisions (e.g. in PPCs<sup>30</sup>) have made it clear that the notion of Community Interest does not simply encompass the interests of EU based firms who complain. If anti-dumping measures secure the generation of value added by US, Swiss or Japanese-based multi-nationals on EU soil employing EU residents, and if as a result technological know how is transferred or retained, this is beneficial.

The discussion that follows is not intended to dispute the view that any simple empirical reading of the history of trade policy would probably conclude that the attraction of DFI has been the most evident quantifiable benefit. One must just be a little careful in remembering that there can be indirect effects of DFI as well as direct effects and these are difficult to measure.

Caution must be taken in the evaluation of this impact. The first point is that DFI can have costs as well a benefits. The second point is that, as a result of this, the actual net benefits of DFI are very hard to measure.

First, apart from the costs associated with any anti-dumping action which include the overall competitiveness problems of any price increases, it must be recognised that jobs created by the DFI that is attracted are not necessarily net additional jobs in this sector. Whether or not the substitution of imports from a closed home base by sales from EU based subsidiary serves to restore genuinely effective competition will obviously depend on the nature of the advantage which the exporter previously had. If the dumping exporter has benefited from past R&D and can amortise heavy set up costs rapidly in the home base and merely had to incur the low set up costs of an assembly plant in the EU an asymmetric advantage will still remain. On the other hand where the local production costs are the most important part of the competitive advantage the fact that foreign firms are producing in the EU on the same terms as EU firms "levels the playing field".<sup>31</sup>

There is a general problem of counterfactuals in evaluating DFI. What would have happened otherwise ? If we see a rise of DFI based jobs and a decline in EU-owned firms and we suspect that the EU firms would not have declined as fast if there had been no DFI we must say that some of the new jobs displaced other jobs. If on the other hand the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>See R. Belderbos, Japanese Electronics Multinationals and Strategic Trade Policies, Oxford University Press, forthcoming.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Some economists outside the main current of opinion (e.g. R. Dornbusch of MIT in his contribution to Lawrence and Schultze (1992)) have argued that trade policy should be geared to the attraction of DFI because profits (rents) can be shifted to the host country.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Definitive Duty OJ L 244/1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> We must remember that this levelling the playing field is not necessarily desirable for its sake where true costs are lower elsewhere in the world. The role of anti-dumping duties should be to prevent foreign firms taking advantage of a cost advantage due to some form of anti-competitive distortion.

original EU industry would have declined as fast anyway and the new jobs we have attracted are all bonuses, then the anti-dumping measures have served the Community Interest by attracting DFI, even though they have simply had no effect on the complainants.

Obviously any overall appreciation of DFI depends on the industrial issues referred to above. Many studies of Japanese DFI into the UK (e.g. Commissariat au Plan 1990) have concluded that there has been highly beneficial technological demonstration effects, though it has proved impossibly to quantify these exactly.<sup>32</sup>

## 3.3. Alternative policies

Economic theory and some empirical evidence on job creation suggest that the aims of anti-dumping action could often be achieved by other policies, at lower cost, though these may be ruled out for legal or political reasons. In those cases where anti-dumping is recommended partly on account of social or industrial spillover effects, it would seem reasonable to consider whether these alternative policies may be available.

It is not within our terms of reference to propose alternative policy instruments. Nevertheless it is clearly reasonable to suggest that wherever possible the Commission considers whether from the point of view of Community Interest the anti-dumping instrument is the most appropriate in each case.<sup>33</sup>

Alongside such considerations it is also surely reasonable to ask that where an antidumping action is being argued for on grounds of social or industrial spillover effects, there should be an evaluation of whether alternative policies might be available. Such policies could include specific industrial policy measures including subsidies.<sup>34</sup> There are enormous political and legal obstacles to this, but there is a long established body of economic theory in cases where there are market failures, e.g. adjustment problems or capital market failures, arguing typically that "optimal measures are part of industrial policy (including subsidies to factors of production) and trade policy is always a second best instrument."<sup>35</sup>

We noted above that the evaluation reports prepared for DG V on the Social Funds give estimates of about £10,000 pa. as the annual cost of creating jobs using that mechanism.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Some of the technological transfer is in "soft" managerial technologies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> This report will not go into the relationship between anti-dumping and safeguard duties, which is a legal matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> One avenue that could be explored would be to consider whether member states might not be specifically permitted to give subsidies to industries where adjustment or other considerations suggest that subsidies would correct rather than introduce distortions in the world market.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Gual (1995, p.11), reviewing the work of trade economists Neary and Mussa. This is an example of the proposition that instruments should be linked to targets.

## 3.4. Making a balance

Balancing the different elements in a case is inevitably a matter of judgement rather than arithmetic and precision is impossible. However, it would seem reasonable to try and ensure that any apparent cost is proportionate to the relevant interest.

More information can help though, especially concerning :

1) a proper evaluation of the overall Community interest will be inadequate if it relies only on interested parties. As much independent expertise as possible should be used in this.

2) continuing monitoring of cases will allow decisions to be reviewed and the process to be refined.

As we argued earlier the best approach would be a listing of favourable and unfavourable effects rather than a single "bottom line".

	positive	negative
Employment effects	employment in protected	employment in user
	sector or region	industries and general
		competitiveness
Revenues	Tariff revenues	
Price effects	terms of trade gain	
		cost to users
		general cost of living
Market Structure effects	ensuring survival of EU	possibly reducing
	firms as sources of supply	competition in EU
Investment	Attracting DFI	Risk of misleading EU
	Greater predictability for	firms that they will be
	investors	protected
Technology effects	retention of EU know-how	impact on user industry
	base	

As a simple aide mémoire we can draw up a checklist:

Many of the factors above cannot easily be quantified in such a way that the numbers can be set against one another. In particular no-one would argue that the market structure analysis could generate numbers that could easily be set off against other numbers, but when the balancing is done, the existence of evidence in favour of possible predation could be argued as a factor strengthening the case for protecting the producers while the absence of any such evidence could go the other way.

At the very minimum one would argue that the regulation requires that the cost of any relief to the injured industry must be seen to be demonstrably proportionate to the interest at stake. The regulation requires a balance to be struck between producers and users/consumers but it does not indicate how this is to be done.

There is no doubt that, given the difficulty of making perfect judgements, error one way or the other is inevitable. A system that above all guarantees to maintain competition is likely to let through some unfair competition, while a system that guarantees to prevent all unfair competition is bound to increase the risk of catching some fair competition in the net as well.<sup>36</sup>

There is no simple way to avoid economic judgement going beyond mere observation of past data. It is necessary to consider what is likely in the future. The analysis must also rely on judgement in attempting to determine not merely what actually happened in the past but also what *would have happened* without the dumping.

For example, even ex post a true cost benefit analysis after the event of DFI would depend on very complex estimates of what would have happened to jobs and technology transfers with and without measures and the amount of DFI attracted or not attracted. The chances are that many of these factors will be matters of subjective judgement. Recent cases have paid attention to these matters and our suggestion is that in retrospective evaluation the Commission could systematise its analysis and seek to acquire expertise where necessary.

From the point of view of ex ante decision-making a correct decision from the point of view of Community Interest does depend on knowing what the investment intentions of foreign firms are. From an economic point of view however it is not easy to see how reliable evidence can be obtained. A complainant clearly has an interest in exaggerating the effect of trade policy on its investment intentions while a firm accused of dumping has incentives to claim it would not invest and is not under any obligation to reveal its plans. There seems little alternative but to rely on whatever independent expertise is available and to be aware that judgements in this area are notoriously difficult. But as much independent expertise as possible is desirable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> There is a basic theorem in statistics that if one wishes to test a hypothesis e.g. that dumping is occurring it is only possible to reduce the chances of erroneously concluding that it isn't happening when it actually is by at the same time increasing the chances of wrongly concluding that it is happening when it actually is not.

It is also highly desirable that dossiers should be kept open after the end of the reference period in order to check on whether the basic scenarios assumed did correspond to the outcomes.

## 4. POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Anti-dumping decisions should be based on an evaluation of the potential future impact of adopting or not adopting measures on

- producers,
- users,
- final consumers,
- and related community industries.

Information should be gathered from as many sources as possible and monitoring of outcomes should continue after decisions.

- Under present regulations the greatest scope for the use of economic analysis lies in the assessment of Community Interest.
- It does not seem sensible for formal cost-benefit analysis (CBA) to be used in decisions in a prospective manner except for illustrative purposes. It could be used retrospectively to review the progress of industries affected by decisions but only if additional data is gathered.
- Even without formal CBA some form of forward looking scenario analysis on the effects of imposing measures or not is desirable.
- It would be helpful to estimate, *as far as possible*, the potential impact on producers, users and final consumers, in terms of prices, employment, output etc. of imposing or not imposing measures. Where spillover effects are thought to exist evidence should be sought.
- It is desirable that where individual components of the calculation can be estimated the figure should be expressed as a sum of money (or as a range) not as a percentage of a large total, even if there are broad margins and alternative possible scenarios.
- No attempt should be made to identify a single net value of costs minus benefits, but the judgements on which the preference for the interests of one group rather than another are expressed should be made as clear as possible.
- Anti-dumping decisions, mindful of overall EU competitiveness, should not neglect the possible impact of small rises in the cost of living on wages and wage costs and thus on the economy as a whole.

- The difficulties of forecasting being what they are, the analysis should be based on indicative scenarios, so that decision-makers can for example obtain a feel for what kind of price increases might be needed to restore profit margins, etc.
- Some investigation of the circumstances of the dumping will help assess the likely response of markets to policy choices. For example information on the degree and the nature of closure and the competitive situation in the exporters' and the EU market could indicate the scope for the existence or acquisition of market power.
- After decisions are made data should be collected to monitor the evolution of the market.
- For the purposes of obtaining a balanced appreciation of Community Interest it is desirable where possible to collect information that is not necessarily submitted by directly concerned parties.

#### References

Baumol, W.J. et al, *Contestable Markets and the Theory of Industrial Structure*, Harcourt Brace, 1982

Bhagwati, J., Protectionism, MIT, 1988

Belderbos, R., *Japanese Electronics Multinationals and Strategic Trade Policies*, Oxford University Press, forthcoming.

Belderbos, R. and Holmes, P., The Economics of Matsushita Revisited', *Anti-Trust Bulletin*, Winter 1995.

Dixit, A. and Pindyck, R., Investment under Uncertainty, Princeton UP,1994.

Dornbusch, R., 'Policy Options: the case for Bilateralism' in R. Lawrence and C. Schultze *An American Trade Strategy*, Brookings, 1992.

Ethier, W., 'Dumping' New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics, Macmillan, 1987.

Grant Thornton, A Pilot Study to Develop a Methodology for the Effects of Dumping and Anti-Dumping Remedies, Commission of the European Communities unpublished, July 1992 (extension April 1993).

Greenaway, D. et al, 'Anti-dumping Policy and NTB', unpublished 1995.

Gual, J., 'The Three Common Policies : an Economic Analysis' in P.Buigues, A. Jacquemin and A.Sapir, eds. *European Policies on Competition Trade and Industry*, E.Elgar 1995.

Holmes, P., Smith, A. and Belderbos, R., *Report on Unfair Trade and Business Practices in IT&T and electronics*, Study for EC Commission, DG-XIII, June 1992.

Krugman, P., Strategic Trade Policy and the New International Economics, MIT, 1986.

Low, P., Trading Free, Twentieth Century Fund, 1993.

Marchipont, J-F., *La Stratégie Industrielle de l'Union Européenne*, doctoral dissertation, University of Nancy, 1994.

Messerlin, P., *Antidumping Regulations or Procartel Law ? : The EC Chemicals Cases*, PRE Working Paper 397, Washington, DC : World Bank, 1990.

Miranda, J., 'Should Antidumping Laws be Dumped?', *Law and Policy in International Business*, Vol 28. No. 1, Fall 1996.

Mussa, M., 'Government policies and the adjustment process' in J.Bhagwati, ed., *Import Competition and Response*, NBER/Chicago UP, 1982.

National Consumer Council, *Consumer Electronics and the EC's Anti-dumping Policy*, London, 1990.

Neary P., 'Intersectorial Capital Mobility' in J. Bhagwati, ed., *Import Competition and Response*, NBER/Chicago UP, 1982.

Newbery, D. and Stiglitz, J., 'Pareto Inferior Trade' Review of Economic Studies, 1984.

OECD, Costs and Benefits of Protection, Paris, 1985.

Tarr, D. and Mokre, M., *Aggregate Costs to the US of Tariffs and Quotas on Imports*, US Federal Trade Commission, Washington, 1984.

Tinbergen, J., On the Theory of Economic Policy, North Holland, 1952.

Tirole, J., The Theory of Industrial Organisation, MIT, 1990.

UK Evaluation Report on Structural Funds for Objectives 3 and 4 for 1991, Department for Education and Employment, London.

US International Trade Commission, *The Economic Effects of Anti-dumping and Countervailing Duty Orders and Suspension Agreements*, Washington, June 1995.

Venables, A.J., 'The Economics of Dumping and Anti-Dumping Policy', unpublished background paper for Ernst & Young study on *The Economic Impact of Dumping and the Community's Anti-Dumping Policy*, European Parliament, 1993.

Viner, J., Dumping: A Problem in International Trade, Chicago UP, 1923.

Willig, R.,ed., *Competition Policy and Anti-dumping*, a Report to the Committee on Competition Law and Policy of the OECD, unpublished, 1996.

Zajac, E., The Political Economy of Fairness, MIT, 1995.

# SUSSEX EUROPEAN INSTITUTE Working Papers in Contemporary European Studies

1.	Vesna Bojicic and David Dyker Sanctions on Serbia: Sledgehammer or Scalpel	June	1993
2.	Gunther Burghardt The Future for a European Foreign and Security Policy	August	1993
3.	Xiudian Dai, Alan Cawson, Peter Holmes Competition, Collaboration and Public Policy: A Case Study of the European HDTV Strategy	February	1994
4.	Colin Crouch The Future of Unemployment in Western Europe? Reconciling Demands for Flexibility, Quality	February and Security	1994
5.	John Edmonds Industrial Relations - Will the European Community Change Everything?	February	1994
6.	Olli Rehn The European Community and the Challenge of a Wider Europe	July	1994
7.	Ulrich Sedelmeier The EU's Association Policy towards Central Eastern Europe: Political and Economic Rational	October les in Conflict	1994
8.	Mary Kaldor Rethinking British Defence Policy and Its Economic Implications	February	1995
9.	Alasdair Young Ideas, Interests and Institutions: The Politics of Liberalisation in the EC's Road Haulage Indust	December <sub>ry</sub>	1994
10.	Keith Richardson Competitiveness in Europe: Cooperation or Conflict?	December	1994
11.	Mike Hobday The Technological Competence of European Semiconductor Producers	June	1995
12.	Graham Avery The Commission's Perspective on the Enlargement Negotiations	July	1995
13.	Gerda Falkner The Maastricht Protocol on Social Policy: Theory and Practice	September	1995
14.	Vesna Bojicic, Mary Kaldor, Ivan Vejvoda Post-War Reconstruction in the Balkans	November	1995
15. Alasdair Smith, Peter Holmes, Ulrich Sedelmeier, Edward Smith, Helen Wallace,			
Ala	sdair Young The European Union and Central and Eastern Europe: Pre-Accession Strategies	Marc	h 1996
16.	Helen Wallace From an Island off the North-West Coast of Europe	March	1996
17.	Indira Konjhodzic	June	1996

Democratic Consolidation of the Political System in Finland, 1945-1970: A Potential Model for the New States of Central and Eastern Europe?

18. Antje Wiener and Vince Della Sala December 1996 Constitution Making and Citizenship Practice - Bridging the Democracy Gap in the EU?

19. Helen Wallace and Alasdair Young	December 1996
Balancing Public and Private Interests Under Duress	
20. S.Ran Kim The Evolution of Governance and the Growth Dynamics of the Korean Semiconductor Industry	April 1997 1
21. Tibor Navracsics A Missing Debate?: Hungary and the European Union	June 1997

59

# **Sussex European Institute**

## **Working Paper Series in Contemporary European Studies**

The Sussex European Institute publishes Working Papers (ISSN 1350-4649) to make research results, accounts of work-in-progress and background information available to those concerned with contemporary European issues. The Institute does not express opinions of its own; the views expressed in these publications are the responsibility of the authors.

## **Ordering Details**

The price of each Working Paper is £5.00 plus £1.00 postage and packing per copy in Europe and £2.00 per copy elsewhere. Cheques should be made payable to the University of Sussex. Orders should be sent to the Sussex European Institute, University of Sussex, Arts A Building, Falmer, Brighton BN1 9QN

℅					
Date	Please send copy	/ies of Paper No to:			
Name:					
Address					
I enclose a cheque for £ (including postage)					
	· · · · · ·	falmer, brighton bn1 9qn			
TEL: 01273 678578 sei@sussex.ac.uk	FAX: 01273 678571	E.MAIL:			